الجمهوريـة الجزائـريـة الديمقراطيـة الشعبيـة République Algérienne Démocratique et Populaire وزارة التعليـم العالـي والبحث العلمي Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche Scientifique

Centre Universitaire Abdelhafid Boussouf Mila

versitaire Abdelhafid Boussouf Mila

عبد الحفيظ بوالصوف ميلة

المركىز الجامعى

ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼ଡ଼**ଡ଼**ଡ଼

Institut : Sciences et Technologie N° d'ordere : Matricule : M60 /2016 Département: Mathématiques et informatique

www.centre-univ-mila.dz



Présentée pour l'obtention du Diplôme de Doctorat LMD

La résolution numérique de quelques équations intégrales et intégro-différentielles non linéaires par la méthode de collocation

Préparée par : Rouibah Khaoula

Directeur de thèse: Dr . Azzeddine Bellour

Filière : Mathématiques

Spécialité: Mathématiques et Applications

N°	Nom & Prénom	Grade	Université	Designation
1	Hamri Nasr-Eddine	Professeur	Centre Univ. de Mila	Président
2	Mohammed-Salah Abdelouahab	Professeur	Centre Univ. de Mila	Examinateur
3	Halim Yacine	M.C.A	Centre Univ. de Mila	Examinateur
4	Bellour Azzeddine	M.C.A	E.N.S. de Constantine	Rapporteur
5	Abada Nadjet	M.C.A	E.N.S. de Constantine	Examinateur

Année Universitaire: 2020/2021

Centre UniversitaireAbdelhafid BOUSSOUF – MILA BP 26 RP Mila 43000 Algérie P031 450041 E031 450040 ميلة -المركز الجامعي عبد الحفيظ بوالصوف طرق 26 ميلة RP ص.ب رقم 26.⊠ 14300 @031 450040 1450040



Institute : Sciences and Technologie Order N°: Matricule : M60 /2016 **Departement:** of Mathematics and computer science

<u>୧୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭୭</u>୭

www.centre-univ-mila.dz

Thesis

Submitted for the degree of Doctorate LMD

Numerical Solution of Some Classes of Nonlinear Integral and Integro-Differentiale Equations by Using Collocation Method

Presented by: Rouibah Khaoula

Supervised by: Dr . Azzeddine Bellour

Faculty : Mathematics

Specialty: Mathematics and Applications

N°	Name & Surname	Degree	University	Designation
1	Hamri Nasr-Eddine	Professor	Univ-Center. of Mila	Chairman
2	Mohammed-Salah Abdelouahab	Professor	Univ-Center. of Mila	Examiner
3	Halim Yacine	A .P.A	Univ-Center. of Mila	Examiner
4	Bellour Azzeddine	A .P.A	E.N.S. of Constantine	Supervisor
5	Abada Nadjet	A .P.A	E.N.S. of Constantine	Examiner

University year: 2020/2021

Centre UniversitaireAbdelhafid BOUSSOUF – MILA ⊠ BP 26 RP Mila 43000 Algérie \$\$\$031 450041 ■031 450040 ميلة -المركز الجامعي عبد الحفيظ بوالصوف 4300 الجزائر0ميلة RP ص.ب رقم 2.6.⊠ 1450040昌031 450041 1

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor **Dr. Bellour Azzeddine** at the Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Constantine, for believing in me and giving me this opportunity, for his support, and his wise advice. I also want to thank **Prof.Edris Ahmad Rawashdeh** from Yarmouk University, Irbid-Jordan, for his support, ideas, I would address my gratitude to the members of my examination committee who accepted to examine this thesis, **Prof. Hamri Nasreddine**, **Dr. Mohammed Salah Abdelouahab**, **Dr. Halim Yacine** and **Dr.Abada Nadjet**.

Special thanks to my colleagues from the University Center of Mila, for making such a great experience.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, who have offer me both support and encouragement. Special thanks to my husband for his understanding, patience, and encouraging during all the years of this work.

DEDICATION

To my **parents**. To my brothers and sisters. To my children, my husband, and his family. To everyone who encouraged me.

ABSTRACT

The main purpose of this thesis is to provide a direct, convergent and easy to implement numerical method to obtain the approximate solution for nonlinear Volterra integral equations and nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations . Algorithms based on iterative collocation method is developed for the numerical solution of these kinds of equations. We also provide a rigorous error analysis. A theoretical proof is given and we present some numerical results which illustrate the performance of the methods.

Key Words: Nonlinear Volterra integral equations, Volterra integro-differential equations, Collocation method, Continuous collocation method, Iterative Method, Lagrange polynomials, Convergence analysis,Error estimation.

RÉSUMÉ

L'objectif essentiel de ce travail consiste à résoudre numériquement des équations intégrales de Volterra non linéaires et des équations integro-différentielles non linéaires de Volterra par la méthode de " collocation itérative" en utilisant les polynômes de Lagrange. Des exemples numériques sont présentés pour confirmer les estimations théoriques et illustrer la convergence de la méthode.

Mots-clés : Équations intégo-différentielle non linéaires de Volterra, Équations intégrales de Volterra, Méthode de collocation, Polynômes de Lagrange.

ملخص

قدمنا في هذه المذكرة طريقة مقترحة مع خوارزمية جديدة لحل معادلات فولتيرا التكاملية وكذا التكاملية-التفاضلية الغير الخطية. حيث يتم ايجاد الحل التقريبي لمعادلات فولتيرا التكاملية باستخدام طريقة التجميع التكرارية، بالاعتماد كثيرات حدود لاغرانج. كما من الممكن ملاحظة كفاءة الطريقة و سهولة الحسابات، فيها حيث تمت مقارنة نتائج هذه الطريقة مع نتائج طرق اخرى من خلال بعض الأمثلة التوضيحية لحل معادلات فولتيرا التكاملية وكذا التكاملية وكذا التكاملية مع معادلات في معاد نتائج جيدة.

الكلمات الكفتاحية

معادلات فولتيرا التكاملية، التكاملية-التفاضلية، الغير الخطية، طريقة التجميع التكرارية، كثيرات حدود لاغرانج

CONTENTS

In	Introduction			
1	Preliminary and auxiliary results			
	1.1	Classifications of integral and intergro-differential equations	6	
	1.2	Conversion of differential equations to integral equations	14	
	1.3	Conversion of Volterra integro-differential equations to Volterra integral		
		equation	23	
	1.4	Existence and uniqueness of the solution	25	
	1.5	Piecewise polynomial spaces	29	
	1.6	Collocation method	30	
	1.7	Review of basic discrete Gronwall-type inequalities	31	
Ι	Nu	merical solution of nonlinear Volterra integral equations	33	
2	Iterative Collocation Method for Solving Nonlinear Volterra Integral Equa-			
	tion	S	37	
	2.1	Introduction	38	
	2.2	Description of the method	38	
	2.3	Convergence analysis	40	

	2.4	Numerical examples	46			
	2.5	Conclusion	50			
_	τ.					
3	Iterative continuous collocation method for solving nonlinear Volterra inte-					
gral equations						
	3.1	Introduction	52			
	3.2	Description of the method	53			
	3.3	Convergence analysis	55			
	3.4	Numerical examples	62			
	3.5	Conclusion	67			
II	N	umerical solution of nonlinear Volterra integro-differential				
ec	uati	ion	69			
	L					
4	Itera	ative continuous collocation method for solving nonlinear Volterra integro-	,			
	diff	erential equations in the space $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$	74			
	4.1		75			
	4.2	Introduction				
		Introduction	76			
	4.3	Introduction	76 79			
	4.3 4.4	Introduction	76 79 86			

5 Iterative collocation method for nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations in the space $S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N)$ 92 5.1 Introduction 93 5.2 Description of the method 93 5.3 Convergence analysis 96

Numerical examples

110

114

116

5.4

5.5

INTRODUCTION

The theory and the applications of the integrals equations are important subject in applied mathematics. Integral equations or integro-differential equations describe many applications in science and engineering, also occur as reformulations of other mathematical problems. For examples the Volterra's population growth model, biological species living together, the heat transfer and the heat radiation are among many areas that are described by integral equations.

The first integral equation mentioned in the mathematical literature is due to Abel and can be found in almost any book on this subject (see, for instance, [20]). Abel found this equation in 1812, starting from a problem in mechanics. He gave a very elegant solution that was published in 1826.

Starting in 1896, Vito Volterra built up a theory of integral equations, viewing their solutions as a problem of finding the inverses of certain integral operators. In 1900, Ivar Fredholm made his famous contribution that led to a fascinating period in the development of mathematical analysis. Poincaré, Fréchet, Hilbert, Schmidt, Hardy and Riesz were involved in this new area of research. Volterra integral equations belong to its owner Vito Volterra, among the most popular types of integral equations. It arises in many varieties of mathematical, scientific, and engineering problems. One

such problem is the solution of parabolic differential equations with initial boundary conditions [25].

The nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation appeared after its establishment by Volterra. It appears in many physical applications such as glass-forming process, heat transfer, diffusion process in general, neutron diffusion and biological species coexisting together with increasing and decreasing rates of generating. More details about the sources where these equations arise can be found in physics, biology and books of engineering applications. In the following examples, we will briefly describe a class of Volterra integral and integro-differential equations. More applications and sources of Volterra integral equations can be found [12, 45, 67].

Example 01 : In this example, we will study the Volterra model for population growth of a species within a closed system [67]. The population model of Volterra is characterized by the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = aP - bP^2 - cP \int_0^t P(x)dx, \ P(0) = P_0$$

where P = P(t) denotes the population at time t, a, b and c are constants and positive parameters a > 0 is the birth rate coffecient, b > 0 is the crowding coffecient, c > 0 is the toxicity coffecient and P_0 is the initial population. The coffecient c indicates the essential behavior of the population evolution before its level falls to zero in the long run.

There are many existing numerical methods for solving Volterra integro-differential equations, such as Legendre spectral collocation method [69], Runge-Kutta method [13], spectral method [70, 68], Bernstein's approximation method [47], Polynomial collocation method [14, 18, 16, 53, 64], Tau method [26, 34], Haar and Legendre wavelets method [43, 63], Taylor collocation method [41, 42].

The aim of this thesis is to apply a new direct iterative collocation method based on the use of Lagrange polynomials for nonlinear Volterra integrals equations and the nonlinear integro-differential equations. This method is based on the idea of approach-

Introduction

ing the exact solution of a given integral equation using a suitable function, belonging to a chosen finite dimensional space. The approximate solution must satisfy the integral equation on a certain subset of the interval (called the set of collocation points). We consider as spaces of approximation, the real polynomial spline spaces. The main advantages of this direct iterative collocation method are:

(i) The approximate solution is given by using explicit formulas.

(ii) This method has a convergence order.

(iii) There is no algebraic system needed to be solved, which makes the proposed algorithm very effective and easy to implement.

Our thesis is organized as follows:

In the first chapter, we provide the fundamental notions, definitions and some necessary theorems will be needed for the following chapters, such as the classifications of integral and integro-differential equations, Leibniz rule, the linearity and the homogeneity concepts of integral equations, the conversion process of an Initial Value Problem to Volterra integral and integro-differntaille equation and discrete inequalities.

The purpose of the first part, is to give a numerical method based on the use of Lagrange polynomials to construct a collocation solution in the two piecewise polynomials splines spaces $S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(\Pi_N)$ and $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$ for approximating the solution of nonlinear Volterra integral equations . We prove the convergence of the approximate solution to the exact solution. Numerical examples illustrate the theoretical results.

In the second part, we provide a new direct numerical method for first-order nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations (VIDEs) in the space $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$ and $S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N)$, the space of continuous polynomial spline functions . We developed an algorithm based on the use of Lagrange polynomials for the numerical solution . It is shown that this algorithm is convergent. Numerical results are presented to prove the effectiveness of the presented algorithm.

Finally, we summarize the contributions of this thesis and we suggest new avenues, improvements for future research and perspectives.

CHAPTER 1

PRELIMINARY AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

An integral equation is defined as an equation in which the unknown function u(t) to be determined appear under the integral sign. The subject of integral equations is one of the most useful mathematical tools in both pure and applied mathematics. It has enormous applications in many physical problems. Many initial and boundary value problems associated with ordinary differential equation (ODE) and partial differential equation (PDE) can be transformed into problems of solving some approximate integral equations. The development of science has led to the formation of many physical laws, which, when restated in mathematical form, often appear as differential equations [67]. An integral equation is an equation in which the unknown function u(t) appears under an integral sign. A standard integral equation in u(t) is of the form:

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{g(t)}^{h(t)} K(t,s)u(s)ds,$$

where g(t) and h(t) are the limits of integration, λ is a constant parameter, and k(t,s) is a function of two variables t and s called the kernel of the integral equation. The function u(t) that will be determined appears under the integral sign, and it appears inside the integral sign and outside the integral sign as well. The functions f(t) and k(t,s) are given in advance. It is to be noted that the limits of integration g(t) and h(t) may be both variables, constants, or mixed.

An integro-differential equation is an equation in which the unknown function u(t) appears under an integral sign and contains an ordinary derivative $u^{(n)}(t)$ as well. A standard integro-differential equation is of the form:

$$u^{(n)}(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{g(t)}^{h(t)} K(t,s)u(s)ds,$$

where g(t), h(t), f(t), λ and the kernel k(t, s) are as prescribed before. Integral equations and integro-differential equations will be classified into distinct types according to the limits of integration and the kernel k(t, s). [67].

1.1 Classifications of integral and intergro-differential equations

The most integral and integro-differential equations fall under two main classes namely Fredholm and Volterra integral and integro-differential equations.

Fredholm integral and integro-differential equations

Fredholm integral equations:

Fredholm integral equations arise in many scientific applications. It was also shown that, this equation can be derived from boundary value problems. Erik Ivar Fredholm (1866-1927) is best remembered for his work on integral equations and spectral theory. Fredholm was a Swedish mathematician who established the theory of integral equations and his 1903 paper in Acta Mathematica played a major role in the establishment of operator theory (Wazwaz (2011)). The most standard form of Fredholm linear integral equations is given by the following form

$$v(t)u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(t,s)u(s)ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$
(1.1)

where the limit of integration *a* and *b* are constants and the unknown function u(t) appears under the integral sign. Where k(t, s) is the kernel of the integral equation and λ is a parameter. The Eq. (1.1) is called linear because the unknown function u(t) under the integral sign occurs linearly, i.e. the power of u(t) is one.

The value of v(t) will give the following kinds of Fredholm integral equations: If v(t) = 0, then Eq. (1.1) yields

$$f(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(t,s)y(s)ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$

which is called Fredholm integral equation of the first kind.

If the function v(t) = 1, then Eq. (1.1) becomes simply

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(t,s)u(s)ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$

and this equation is called Fredholm integral equation of second kind.

If $v(t) \neq 0$, then Eq.(1.1) becomes Fredholm integral equations of third kind. Fredholm integral equation is of the first kind if the unknown function u(t) appears only under the integral sign.

Nonlinear Fredholm integral equations:

The nonlinear Fredholm integral equations of the second kind is given by the following form

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(t, s, u(s)) ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$

where the unknown function u(t) occurs inside and outside the integral sign, λ is a parameter, and a and b are constants. For this type of equations, the kernel k and the function f(t) are given real-valued functions.

Nonlinear Fredholm-Hammerstein integral equations:

Nonlinear Fredholm-Hammerstein integral equations is given by the form,

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(t,s)F(s,u(s))ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$

Nonlinear Fredholm integro-differential equations:

The nonlinear Fredholm integro-differential equations is given by the following form,

$$u^{n}(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{b} K(t, s, u(s), u'(s), \dots, u^{n-1}(s)) ds, \quad u^{k}(a) = b_{k}, \quad 0 \le k \le n-1,$$
(1.2)

where $u^n(t) = \frac{d^n u}{dt^n}$ Because the resulted equation in (1.2) combines the differential operator and the integral operator, then it is necessary to define initial conditions u(0), u'(0), ..., $u^{n-1}(0)$ for the determination of the particular solution u(t) of the equation (1.2). Any Fredholm integro-differential equation is characterized by the existence of one or more of the derivatives u'(t), u''(t), ... outside the integral sign. The Fredholm integro-differential equations of the second kind appear in a variety of scientific applications such as the theory of signal processing and neural networks.

Nonlinear Fredholm-Hammerstein integro-differential equations:

The nonlinear Fredholm-Hammerstein integro-differential equations of the second kind is of the form,

$$u^{n}(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{b} K(t,s)F(s,u(s),u'(s),\ldots,u^{n-1}(s))ds,$$

Volterra integral and integro-differential equations

It is well known that linear and nonlinear Volterra integral equations arise in many scientific fields such as the population dynamics, spread of epidemics, and semi-conductor devices. Volterra started working on integral equations in 1884, but his serious study began in 1896. The name integral equation was given by du Bois-Reymond in 1888. However, the name Volterra integral equation was first coined by Lalesco in 1908 [67]. **Volterra integral equations:**

The standard form of linear Volterra integral equations, where the limits of integration are functions of *t* rather than constants, are of the form,

$$v(t)u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{t} K(t,s)u(s)ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$
(1.3)

where the unknown function u(t) under the integral sign occurs linearly as stated before. It is worth noting that (1.3) can be viewed as a special case of Fredholm integral equation when the kernel k(t, s) vanishes for s > t, t is in the range of integration [a, b]. As in Fredholm equations, Volterra integral equations fall under the following kinds, depending on the value of v(t), namely:

First, when v(t) = 0, Eq. (1.3) becomes,

$$0 = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{t} K(t,s)u(s)ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$

and in this case the integral equation is called Volterra integral equation of the first kind.

Secondly, when v(t) = 1, Eq. (1.3) becomes,

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{t} K(t,s)u(s)ds, \ a \le t, \ s \le b,$$

and in this case the integral equation is called Volterra integral equation of the second kind.

Thirdly, when $v(t) \neq 0$, Eq. (1.3) becomes Volterra integral equations of third kind.

Nonlinear Volterra integral equations:

The nonlinear Volterra integral equation of the second kind is represented by the form,

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, u(s)) ds,$$

The nonlinear Volterra integral equation of the first kind is expressed in the form,

$$f(t) = \lambda \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, u(s)) ds,$$

Nonlinear Volterra-Hammerstein integral equations:

The nonlinear Volterra-Hammerstein integral equation of the second kind is repre-

sented by the form

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{a}^{t} K(t,s)F(s,u(s))ds,$$

Volterra Integro-differential equations:

Volterra, in the early 1900, studied the population growth, where new type of equations have been developed and was termed as integro-differential equations. In this type of equations, the unknown function u(t) occurs in one side as an ordinary derivative, and appears on the other side under the integral sign. Several phenomena in physics and biology give rise to this type of integro-differential equations. Further, we point out that an integro-differential equation can be easily observed as an intermediate stage when we convert a differential equation to an integral equation in next section.

The Volterra integro-differential equation appeared after its establishment by Volterra. It then appeared in many physical applications such as glass forming process, nanohydrodynamics, heat transfer, diffusion process in general, neutron diffusion and biological species coexisting together with increasing and decreasing rates of generating, and wind ripple in the desert. More details about the sources where these equations arise can be found in physics, biology and engineering applications books (see, for example Brunner [12], Volterra [60]). To determine the exact solution for the integro-differential equation, the initial conditions should be given. The Volterra integro-differential equations can be converted to an integral equation by using Leibnitz rule .

Nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations:

The nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation of the second kind is in the form

$$u^{(n)}(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, u(s), u'(s), \dots, u^{n-1}(s)) ds, \quad u^{(k)}(a) = b_k, \quad 0 \le k \le n-1,$$

and the standard form of the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation of the first kind is given by

$$\int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, u(s), u'(s), \dots, u^{n-1}(s)) ds = f(t),$$

Nonlinear Volterra-Hammerstein integro-differential equations:

The nonlinear Volterra-Hammerstein integro-differential equation of the second kind is in the form

$$u^{(n)}(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K(t,s)F(s,u(s),u'(s),\ldots,u^{n-1}(s))ds, \ u^{(k)}(a) = b_{k}, \ 0 \le k \le n-1,$$

Volterra-Fredholm integral and integro-differential equations

Volterra-Fredholm integral equations:

The Volterra-Fredholm integral equation, which is a combination of disjoint Volterra and Fredholm integrals, appears in one integral equation. The Volterra-Fredholm integral equations arise from the modelling of the spatiotemporal development of an epidemic, from boundary value problems and from many physical and chemical applications [67]. The standard form of the linear Volterra-Fredholm integral equation is in the form

$$u(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K_{1}(t,s)u(s)ds + \int_{a}^{b} K_{2}(t,s)u(s)ds,$$

where $k_1(t, s)$ and $k_2(t, s)$ are the kernels of the equation.

Nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations:

The standard form of the Nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equation is in the form

$$u(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K_{1}(t, s, u(s))ds + \int_{a}^{b} K_{2}(t, s, u(s))ds,$$

Nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm-Hammerstein integral equations:

The standard form of the Nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm-Hammerstein integral equation

is in the form

$$u(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K_{1}(t,s)F(s,u(s))ds + \int_{a}^{b} K_{2}(t,s)G(s,u(s))ds,$$

where $k_1(t, s)$ and $k_2(t, s)$ are the kernels of the equation.

Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equations:

The Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equation, which is a combination of disjoint Volterra and Fredholm integrals and differential operator, may appear in one integral equation. The Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equations arise from many physical and chemical applications similar to the Volterra-Fredholm integral equations [5], [6], [61], [62]. The standard form of the Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equation is in the form,

$$u^{(n)}(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K_{1}(t, s, u(s), u'(s), \dots, u^{n-1}(s)) ds + \int_{a}^{b} K_{2}(t, s, u(s), u'(s), \dots, u^{n-1}(s)) ds.$$

Nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm-Hammerstein integro-differential equations:

$$u^{(n)}(t) = f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} K_{1}(t,s)F(t,s,u(s),u'(s),\ldots,u^{n-1}(s))ds + \int_{a}^{b} K_{2}(t,s,u(s),u'(s),\ldots,u^{n-1}(s))ds.$$

Singular integral equations

Volterra integral equations of the first kind,

$$f(t) = \lambda \int_{g(t)}^{h(t)} K(t,s)u(s)ds,$$

or of the second kind

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{g(t)}^{h(t)} K(t,s)u(s)ds,$$

are called singular if one of the limit of integration g(t), h(t) is infinite or the kernel k(t, s) becomes unbounded at one or more points in the interval of integration. We focus on concern on equation of the form:

$$u(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{(t-s)^{\alpha}} u(s) ds, \ 0 \le \alpha \le 1,$$
(1.4)

or of the second kind

$$f(t) = \lambda \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{(t-s)^{\alpha}} u(s) ds, \ 0 \le \alpha \le 1,$$
(1.5)

The Eq. (1.4) and Eq.(1.5) are called generalized Abel's integral equation and weakly singular integral equations respectively.

On the other hand, the well known weakly singular Fredholm integral equations of the form,

$$u(t) = f(t) + \int_{0}^{1} k(t,s)u(s)ds, \ 0 \le \alpha \le 1,$$

where the singularity of kernel may be stated in the forms $k(t,s) = \frac{1}{(t-s)^{\alpha}}$ or $k(t,s) = \frac{1}{(1-t)^{\alpha}}$.

Definition 1.1.1 (*The homogeneity property*)

We set f(t) = 0 in Fredholm or Volterra integral and integro-differential equations as given in the above, the resulting equations is called a homogeneous integral and integro-differential equations, otherwise it is called nonhomogeneous or inhomogeneous integral and integrodifferential equations. **Theorem 1.1.1 (Leibnits)** Let f(x) be continuous [a, b], so:

$$\forall x \in [a, b], \int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} \dots \int_{0}^{x_{n-1}} f(x_{n}) dx_{n} \dots dx_{1} = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{n-1} f(t) dt$$

1.2 Conversion of differential equations to integral equations

In general, the initial values problems (IVP) can be transformed to Volterra integral equations, and the boundary values problems (BVP) can be transformed to Fredholm integral equations and virse versa

IVP to Volterra integral equations:

In this section, we will study the technique that will convert an initial value problem (IVP) to an equivalent Volterra integral equation and Volterra integro-differential equation as well [67]. For simplicity reasons, we will apply this process to a second order initial value problem given by

$$u''(t) + p(t)u'(t) + q(t)u(t) = g(t),$$
(1.6)

$$u(0) = \alpha, u'(0) = \beta$$

where α and β are constants. The functions p(t) and q(t) are analytic functions, and g(t) is continuous through the interval of discussion. To achieve our goal we first set

$$u''(t) = v(t),$$
 (1.7)

where v(t) is a continuous function. Integrating both sides of (1.7) from 0 to *t* yields

$$u'(t) - u'(0) = \int_{0}^{t} v(s)ds,$$

or equivalently

$$u'(t) = \beta + \int_{0}^{t} v(s)ds,$$
 (1.8)

Integrating both sides of (1.8) from 0 to t yields

$$u(t) - u(0) = \beta t + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{s} v(r) dr ds,$$

or equivalently

$$u(t) = \alpha + \beta t + \int_{0}^{t} (t - s)v(s)ds,$$
(1.9)

obtained upon using the formula that reduce double integral to a single integral that was discussed in the next section. Substituting (1.7), (1.8), and (1.9) into the initial value problem (1.6) yields the Volterra integral equation:

$$u(t) + p(t)\left[\beta + \int_{0}^{t} v(s)ds\right] + q(t)\left[\alpha + \beta t + \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)v(t)dt\right] = g(t).$$

The last equation can be written in the standard Volterra integral equation form:

$$v(t) = f(t) + \int_{0}^{t} k(t,s)v(s)ds,$$
(1.10)

where

$$k(t,s) = p(t) + q(t)(t-s),$$

and

$$f(t) = g(t) - \left[\beta p(t) + \alpha q(t) + \beta t q(t)\right].$$

It is interesting to point out that by differentiating Volterra equation (1.10) with respect to t, using Leibnitz rule, we obtain an equivalent Volterra integro-differential equation in the form:

$$u'(t) + k(t,t) = f'(t) - \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\partial k(t,s)}{\partial t} u(s) ds, \ u(0) = f(0),$$

The technique presented above to convert initial value problems to equivalent Volterra integral equations can be generalized by considering the general initial value problem:

$$u^{(n)}(t) + a_1 u^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1} u' + a_n u = g(t),$$
(1.11)

subject to the initial conditions

$$u(0) = c_0, u'(0) = c_1, u''(0) = c_2, ..., u^{n-1} = c_{n-1}.$$

Let v(t) be a continuous function on the interval of discussion, and we consider the transformation:

$$u^{(n)}(t) = v(t). (1.12)$$

Integrating both sides with respect to *t* gives

$$u^{(n-1)}(t) = c_{n-1} + \int_{0}^{t} v(t)dt.$$

Integrating again both sides with respect to t yields

$$u^{(n-2)}(t) = c_{n-2} + c_{n-1}t + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} v(s)dsds$$
$$= c_{n-2} + c_{n-1}t + \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)v(s)ds,$$

obtained by reducing the double integral to a single integral. Proceeding as before we find

$$u^{(n-3)}(t) = c_{n-3} + c_{n-2}t + \frac{1}{2}c_{n-1}t^2 + \int_0^t \int_0^t \int_0^t v(s)dsdsds$$
$$= c_{n-3} + c_{n-2}t + \frac{1}{2}c_{n-1}t^2 + \frac{1}{2}\int_0^t (t-s)^2 v(s)ds.$$

Continuing the integration process leads to

$$u(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{c_k}{k!} t^k + \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^t (t-s)^{n-1} v(s) ds.$$
(1.13)

Substituting (1.12)–(1.13) into (1.11) gives

$$u(t) = f(t) + \int_{0}^{t} k(t,s)v(s)ds,$$
(1.14)

where

$$k(t,s) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{a_n}{k-1!} (t-s)^k - 1,$$

and

$$f(t) = g(t) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} \frac{c_n - k}{(j-k)!} t^j \right).$$

Notice that the Volterra integro-differential equation can be obtained by differentiating (1.14).

The following examples will highlight the process to convert initial value problem to an equivalent Volterra integral equation.

BVP to Fredholm integral equations:

In this section, we will convert a boundary value problem to an equivalent Fredholm integral equation. The method is similar to the method that was presented in the above section for converting Volterra equation to IVP, with the exception that boundary conditions will be used instead of initial values. In this case we will determine another initial condition that is not given in the problem. The technique requires more work if compared with the initial value problems when converted to Volterra integral equations. Without loss of generality, we will present two specific distinct boundary value problems (BVPs) to derive two distinct formulas that can be used for converting BVP to an equivalent Fredholm integral equation [67].

Type I: We first consider the following boundary value problem:

$$u''(t) + g(t)u(t) = h(t), \ 0 \le t \le 1,$$
(1.15)

with the boundary conditions:

$$u(0) = \alpha$$
 and $u(1) = \beta$,

we start as in the previous section and set

$$u''(t) = v(t), (1.16)$$

integrating both sides of (1.16) from 0 to t we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} u^{\prime\prime}(s) ds = \int_{0}^{t} v(s) ds,$$

that gives

$$u'(t) = u'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} v(s)ds, \qquad (1.17)$$

where the initial condition u'(0) is not given in a boundary value problem. The condition u'(0) will be determined later by using the boundary condition at t = 1. Integrating both sides of (1.17) from 0 to t gives

$$u(t) = u(0) + tu'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} v(s) ds ds$$

or equivalently

$$u(t) = \alpha + tu'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} (t - s)v(s)ds, \qquad (1.18)$$

obtained upon using the condition $u(0) = \alpha$ and by reducing double integral to a single integral. To determine u'(0), we substitute t = 1 into both sides of (1.15) and using the boundary condition at $u(1) = \beta$ we find

$$u(1) = \alpha + u'(0) + \int_{0}^{1} (1 - s)v(s)ds,$$

that gives

$$\beta = \alpha + u'(0) + \int_{0}^{1} (1 - s)v(s)ds$$

This in turn gives

$$u'(0) = \beta - \alpha - \int_{0}^{1} (1 - s)v(s)ds.$$
(1.19)

Substituting (1.19) into (1.18) gives

$$u(t) = \alpha + (\beta - \alpha)t - \int_{0}^{1} t(1 - s)v(s)ds + \int_{0}^{t} (t - s)v(s)ds.$$
(1.20)

Substituting (1.16) and (1.20) into (1.15) yields

$$u(t) + \alpha g(t) + (\beta - \alpha)tg(t) - \int_{0}^{1} tg(t)(1 - s)v(s)ds + \int_{0}^{t} g(t)(t - s)v(s)ds = h(t).$$

Hence, by using Chasles formula, we obtain

$$v(t) = h(t) - \alpha g(t) - (\beta - \alpha) t g(t) - \int_{0}^{t} g(t)(t - s) v(s) ds - t g(t) \left[\int_{0}^{t} (1 - s) v(s) ds + \int_{t}^{1} (1 - s) v(s) ds \right],$$

that gives

$$v(t) = f(t) + \int_{0}^{t} s(1-t)v(s)ds + \int_{t}^{1} t(1-s)g(t)v(s)ds,$$
(1.21)

that leads to the Fredholm integral equation:

$$v(t) = f(t) + \int_{0}^{1} k(t,s)v(s)ds,$$
(1.22)

where

$$f(t) = h(t) - \alpha g(t) - (\beta - \alpha)tg(t),$$

and the kernel k(t, s) is given by

$$k(t,s) = \begin{cases} s(1-t)g(t), \text{ for } 0 \le s \le t, \\ s(1-s)g(t), \text{ for } t \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$

An important conclusion can be made here. For the specific case where u(0) = u(1) = 0 which means that $\alpha = \beta = 0$, it is clear that f(t) = h(t) in this case. This means that the resulting Fredholm equation in (1.22) is homogeneous or inhomogeneous if the boundary value problem in (1.15) is homogeneous or inhomogeneous respectively when $\alpha = \beta = 0$.

Type II: We next consider the following boundary value problem: problem:

$$u''(t) + g(t)u(t) = h(t), \ 0 \le t \le 1,$$
(1.23)

with the boundary conditions:

$$u(0) = \alpha_1, \ u'(1) = \beta_1.$$

we again set

$$u''(t) = v(t),$$
 (1.24)

integrating both sides of (1.21) from 0 to t we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} u^{\prime\prime}(s) ds = \int_{0}^{t} v(s) ds$$

that gives

$$u'(t) = u'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} v(s)ds,$$
(1.25)

where the initial condition u'(0) is not given in a boundary value problem. The condition u'(0) will be derived later by $u'(1) = \beta_1$. Integrating both sides of (1.25) from 0 to *t* gives

$$u(t) = u(0) + tu'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} v(s) ds ds$$

or equivalently

$$u(t) = \alpha_1 + tu'(0) + \int_0^t (t - s)v(s)ds,$$
(1.26)

obtained upon using the condition $u(0) = \alpha_1$ and by reducing double integral to a single integral. To determine u'(0), we first differentiate (1.26) with respect to t to get

$$u'(t) = u'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} v(s)ds,$$
(1.27)

where by substituting t = 1 into both sides of (1.27) and using the boundary condition at $u'(1) = \beta_1$ we find

$$u'(t) = \beta_1 + \int_0^t v(s) ds.$$

This in turn gives

$$u'(1) = u'(0) + \int_{0}^{1} v(s)ds.$$
(1.28)

Using (1.28) into (1.26) gives

$$u'(0) = \beta_1 - \int_0^1 v(s) ds, \qquad (1.29)$$

Substituting (1.24) and (1.29) into (1.23) yields

$$v(t) + \alpha_1 g(t) + \beta_1 t g(t) - \int_0^1 t g(s) v(s) ds + \int_0^t g(t) (t-s) v(s) ds = h(t).$$

Hence, by using Chasles formula, we obtain

$$v(t) = h(t) - (\alpha_1 + \beta_1 t)g(t) + tg(t) \left[\int_0^t v(s)ds + \int_t^1 v(s)ds \right] - g(t) \int_0^t (t-s)v(s)ds.$$

The last equation can be written as

$$v(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t sg(t)v(s)ds + \int_t^1 tg(t)v(s)ds,$$

that leads to the Fredholm integral equation:

$$u(t) = f(t) + \int_{0}^{1} k(t,s)u(s)ds,$$
(1.30)

where

$$f(t) = h(t) - (\alpha_1 + \beta_1 t)g(t),$$

and the kernel k(t, s) is given by

$$k(t,s) = \begin{cases} sg(t), \text{ for } 0 \le s \le t, \\ tg(t), \text{ for } t \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$

An important conclusion can be made here. For the specific case where u(0) = u'(1) = 0which means that $\alpha_1 = \beta_1 = 0$, it is clear that f(t) = h(t) in this case. This means that the resulting Fredholm equation in (1.30) is homogeneous or inhomogeneous if the boundary value problem in (1.23) is homogeneous or inhomogeneous respectively.

1.3 Conversion of Volterra integro-differential equations to Volterra integral equation

The following Volterra integro-differential equation

$$u^{(n)}(t) = f(t) + \lambda \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s)u(s)ds, \quad u^{(k)}(0) = b_{k}, \quad 0 \le k \le n-1,$$
(1.31)

can also be solved by converting it to an equivalent Volterra integral equation. It is obvious that the Volterra integro-differential equation (1.31) involves derivatives at the left side, and integral at the right side. To perform the conversion process, we need to integrate both sides n times to convert it to a standard Volterra integral equation. Firstly, Integration of derivatives: from calculus we observe the following:

$$\int_{0}^{t} u'(s)ds = u(t) - u(0),$$

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} u''(s)dsdt_{1} = u(t) - tu'(0) - u(0),$$

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \int_{0}^{t_{2}} u'''(s)dsdt_{1}dt_{2} = u(t) - \frac{1}{2}t^{2}u''(0) - tu'(0) - u(0),$$

and so on for other derivatives.

Secondly, Reducing multiple integrals to a single integral as follows,

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} u(t)dtdx_{1} = \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)u(t)dt,$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} (x-t)u(t)dtdx_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{2}u(t)dt,$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} (x-t)^{2}u(t)dtdx_{1} = \frac{1}{3} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{3}u(t)dt$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} (x-t)^{3}u(t)dtdx_{1} = \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{4}u(t)dt,$$

and so on. This can be generalized in the form

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} \dots \int_{0}^{x_{n-1}} (x-t)u(t)dtdx_{n-1}\dots dx_{1} = \frac{1}{(n)!} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{n}u(t)dt,$$

The conversion to an equivalent Volterra integral equation will be illustrated by studying the following examples.

Example 1.3.1 Convert the following Volterra integro-differential equation to an Volterra

integral equation:

$$u'(x) = 1 + \int_{0}^{x} u(t)dt, \ u(0) = 0,$$

integrating both sides from 0 to x, and using the aforementioned formulas we find

$$u(x) - u(0) = x + \int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{x_{1}} u(t) dt dx_{1},$$

using the initial condition gives the Volterra integral equation

$$u(x) = x + \int_0^x (x-t)u(t)dt,$$

1.4 Existence and uniqueness of the solution

Consider the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation (NVIDE)

$$y^{n}(x) = f(x) + \int_{0}^{x} K(x, t, y(t)) ds, \ x \in [0, b],$$
(1.32)

with *n* initial conditions

$$u^{(k)}(0) = \alpha_k, \ 0 \le k \le n-1,$$

f and *K* are given smooth functions.

In this section, the existence and uniqueness of the solution for Eq. (1.32) are presented. First we give the following theorem from [45]. **Theorem 1.4.1** Consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equations

$$y(x) = f(x) + \int_{0}^{t} k(x, t, y(t))dt, \qquad (1.33)$$

Assume that

- (i) f(x) is continuous,
- (ii) k(x, t, y(t)) is a continuous function for $0 \le t \le s \le b$ and $-\infty \le |y| \le \infty$,
- *(iii) the kernel satisfies the Lipschitz condition*

$$|k(x,t,y_1) - k(x,t,y_2)| \le L|y_1 - y_2|.$$
(1.34)

where *L* is independent of *t*, *t*, y_1 and y_2 . Then the Eq. (1.32) has a unique continuous solution in $0 \le t \le b$.

Now we consider some cases of the integro-differential equations and investigate existence and uniqueness of the solutions of them.

Corollary 1.4.1

$$y'(x) = f(x) + \int_{0}^{x} K(x, t, y(t))dt, \qquad (1.35)$$

with initial condition $y(0) = \alpha$ where f and K are continuous functions and K satisfies the Lipschitz condition

$$|K(x,t,y_1) - K(x,t,y_2)| \le L|y_1 - y_2|.$$
(1.36)

Then this problem has a unique continuous solution.

Proof. B, Section 1.3, Equation (1.35) transformed to the following Volterra integral equation

$$y(s) = \alpha + \int_{0}^{x} H(s, y(s)) ds,$$
 (1.37)

where $H(s, y(s)) = f(s) + \int_{0}^{s} K(s, t, y(t))dt$,

which is in the form of Eq.(1.33), where obviously α and H(s, y(s)) are continuous. Therefore, for the existence and uniqueness of a continuous solution of the Eq.(1.35) it is sufficient to show that Eq. (1.37) satisfies the Lipschitz condition. To this end, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|H(s, y_1(s)) - H(s, y_2(s))\| &= \|\int_0^s (K(s, t, y_1(t)) - K(s, t, y_2(t)))dt\| \\ &\leq L_1 \|y_1 - y_2\| \int_0^s dt \\ &\leq L_1 b \|y_1 - y_2\|. \end{aligned}$$

So by Theorem (1.4.1), the Eq. (1.35) has a unique continuous solution. ■

Corollary 1.4.2

$$y'(x) + cy(x) = f(x) + \int_{0}^{x} K(x, t, y(t))dt, \qquad (1.38)$$

with initial condition $y(0) = \alpha$, the f and K are continuous (1.36) then the equation (1.38) with given condition has a unique continuous solution.

Proof. B, Section 1.3, Equation (1.38) transformed to the following Volterra integral equation

$$y(s) = \alpha + \int_{0}^{x} H(s, y(s)),$$
 (1.39)
where $H(s, y(s)) = f(s) + -cy(s) + \int_{0}^{s} K(s, t, y(t))dt$, similar to the previous corollary we only investigate the Lipschitz condition. To this end, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|H(s,y_1(s)) - H(s,y_2(s))\| &= \|c[y_1(s) - y_2(s)] + \int_0^s (K(s,t,y_1(t)) - K(s,t,y_2(t)))dt\| \\ &\leq \|c\|\|y_1 - y_2\| + L_1\|y_1 - y_2\| \int_0^s dt \\ &\leq (c+bL_1)\|y_1 - y_2\|. \end{aligned}$$

Again, by Theorem (1.4.1), the Eq. (1.38) has a unique continuous solution. ■

Corollary 1.4.3

$$y''(x) + c_1 y(x) + c_2 y(x) = f(x) + \int_0^x K(x, t, y(t)) dt,$$
(1.40)

with initial condition $y(0) = \alpha$, $y'(0) = \beta$, the f and K are continuous (1.36) Then the mentioned problem has a unique continuous solution.

Proof. With the same manner, Volterra integro-differential equation(1.40) by converting it to the following Volterra integral equation

$$y(s) = \alpha + (\beta - c_1 \alpha)z + \int_0^x H(s, y(s))dx.$$

where $H(s, y(s)) = -cy(s) + \int_{0}^{x} \left(f(s) - c_2 y(s) + \int_{0}^{s} K(s, t, y(t)) dt \right) ds$, then we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|H(s, y_{1}(s)) - H(s, y_{2}(s))\| \\ &= \|c_{1}[y_{2}(s) - y_{1}(s)] + \int_{0}^{x} \left(c_{2}(y_{2}(s) - y_{1(s)}) + \int_{0}^{s} (K(s, t, y_{1}(t)) - K(s, t, y_{2}(t))dt) \right) ds\| \\ &\leq |c_{1}|\|y_{1} - y_{2}\| + b|c_{2}|\|y_{1} - y_{2}\| + L_{1}\|y_{1} - y_{2}\| \int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{s} dt ds \\ &\leq (|c_{1}| + b|c_{2}| + b^{2}L_{1})\|y_{1} - y_{2}\|. \end{aligned}$$

Similar to previous cases, by Theorem (1.4.1), the Eq. (1.40) has a unique continuous solution. ■

The same conclusion can be drawn for the following Volterra integro-differential equation of order n

$$y^{n}(x) + \int_{0}^{x} K(x, t, y(t))ds = f(x), \ x \in [0, b],$$

with conditions $y^i(0) = \alpha_i$, i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1, and similar to the previous corollaries we can convert this problem to an equation of the form (1.32).

1.5 Piecewise polynomial spaces

Let:

$$I_{h} = \{t_{n} = t_{n}^{(N)} : 0 = t_{0}^{(N)} < t_{1}^{(N)} < \dots < t_{N}^{(N)} = T\}$$

denote a mesh (or: grid) on the given interval I = [0, T]. Define the subintervals

$$\delta_n^{(N)} = \left[t_n^{(N)}, t_{n+1}^{(N)}\right]$$

Definition 1.5.1 For a given mesh I_h the piecewise polynomial space $S^{(d)}_{\mu}(I_h)$ with $\mu \ge 0, -1 \le d \le \mu$, is given by

$$S^{(d)}_{\mu}(I_h) = \{ v \in C^d(I) : v |_{\sigma_n} \in \pi_{\mu}(0 \le n \le N - 1) \}$$

Here, π_{μ} denotes the space of (real) polynomials of degree not exceeding μ . It is readily verified that $S^{(d)}_{\mu}(I_h)$ is a (real) linear vector space whose dimension is given by

$$\dim S_{\mu}^{(d)}(I_h) = N(\mu - d) + d + 1$$

Remark 1.5.1 The particular piecewise polynomial space $S_{m+d}^{(d)}(I_h)$ corresponding to $\mu = m + d$ with $m \ge 1$ and $d \ge -1$ will play a central role in the chapter 2 and 3. Since its dimension is

$$\dim S_{m+d}^{(d)}(I_h) = Nm + (d+1), \tag{1.41}$$

it may be viewed as the 'natural' collocation space for the approximation of solutions to initial value problems for Volterra equations, the choice of the degree of regularity d will be governed by the number of prescribed initial conditions, while the term Nm suggests that m (distinct) collocation points are to be placed in each of the N subintervals σ_n . Thus, the natural choice of d in (1.41) is as follows:

- For Volterra integral equations (no initial condition) we choose d = -1; hence, the natural collocation space will be $S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(I_h)$. Its dimension is Nm.
- For first-order ODEs or Volterra integro-differential equations (one initial condition) we use d = 0, and the preferred collocation space is $S_m^{(0)}(I_h)$, with dimension equal to Nm + 1.
- For ODEs or VIDEs of ferst order with initial conditions the natural collocation space is $S_{m+1}^{(1)}(I_h)$, corresponding to the choice d = 1. The dimension of this space is Nm + 2.

1.6 Collocation method

A collocation method is based on the idea of approximating the exact solution of a given integral equation with a suitable function belonging to a chosen finite dimensional space

such that the approximated solution satisfies the integral equation on a certain subset of the interval on which the equation has to be solved (called the set of collocation points). In our thesis, we consider the polynomial spline space as the approximating space. In order to describe the relevant collocation method for given N, let Π_N be a uniform partition of a bounded interval I = [0, T] with gride points $t_n = nh$, n = 0, 1, ..., N, where h is the stepsize. Define the subintervals $\delta_n = [t_n, t_{n+1}]$, n = 0, ..., N - 1.

So, the real polynomial spline spaces of degrees m, m + k - 1, which will be used in chapters 2, 3, is defined as follows:

$$S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(I, \Pi_N) = \{ u : u_n = u/_{\sigma_n} \in \pi_{m-1}, n = 0, ..., N-1 \}.$$

$$S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C(I, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_m, n = 0, ..., N-1, \}.$$

$$S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C^1(\mathbf{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_{m+1}, n = 0, ..., N-1 \}.$$

1.7 Review of basic discrete Gronwall-type inequalities

In this section, we give general results of discrete Gronwall-type inequalities. We will need the following discrete Gronwall-type inequalities.

Lemma 1.7.1 [12] Let $\{k_j\}_{j=0}^n$ be a given non-negative sequence and the sequence $\{\varepsilon_n\}$ satisfies $\varepsilon_0 \le p_0$ and

$$\varepsilon_n \le p_0 + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} k_i \varepsilon_i, \quad n \ge 1,$$

with $p_0 \ge 0$. Then ε_n can be bounded by

$$\varepsilon_n \le p_0 \exp\left(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} k_j\right), \quad n \ge 1.$$

Lemma 1.7.2 [20] Assume that $(\alpha_n)_{n\geq 1}$ and $(q_n)_{n\geq 1}$ are given non-negative sequences and the sequence $(\varepsilon_n)_{n\geq 1}$ satisfies

 $\varepsilon_1 \leq \beta$ and

$$\varepsilon_n \leq \beta + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} q_j + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \alpha_j \varepsilon_j, \ n \geq 2.$$

Then

$$\varepsilon_n \leq \left(\beta + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} q_j\right) \exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \alpha_j\right), \ n \geq 2.$$

Lemma 1.7.3 [1] If $\{f_n\}_{n\geq 0}$, $\{g_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ and $\{\varepsilon_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ are nonnegative sequences and

$$\varepsilon_n \leq f_n + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} g_i \varepsilon_i, \quad n \geq 0.$$

Then,

$$\varepsilon_n \leq f_n + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} f_i g_i \exp\left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} g_k\right), \quad n \geq 0.$$

The following three lemmas will be used in this section.

Lemma 1.7.4 [32] Assume that the sequence $\{\varepsilon_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ of nonnegative numbers satisfies

$$\varepsilon_n \leq A\varepsilon_{n-1} + B\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_i + K, \quad n \geq 0,$$

where A, B and K are nonnegative constants, then

$$\varepsilon_n \leq \frac{\varepsilon_0}{R_2 - R_1} \left[(R_2 - 1)R_2^n + (1 - R_1)R_1^n \right] + \frac{K}{R_2 - R_1} \left[R_2^n - R_1^n \right],$$

where

$$R_{1} = \left(1 + A + B - \sqrt{(1 - A)^{2} + B^{2} + B + 2B}\right)/2,$$

$$R_{2} = \left(1 + A + B + \sqrt{(1 - A)^{2} + B^{2} + 2AB + 2B}\right)/2,$$
(1.42)

therefore, $0 \le R_1 \le 1 \le R_2$.

Part I

Numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra integral equations

INTRODUCTION

In this part, we study a numerical method based on iterative and iterative continuous collocation method for the solution of nonlinear Volterra integral equations of the form,

$$x(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t K(t, s, x(s)) ds, t \in I = [0, T],$$
(1.43)

where the functions *f*, *K* are sufficiently smooth.

The integral equations are often involved in various fields such as physics and biology (see, for example [12, 37, 46]), and they also occur as reformulations of other mathematical problems, such as ordinary differential equations and partial differential equations (see [37]).

There has been a growing interest in the numerical solution of Equation (1.43) (see, for example, [3, 4, 23, 24, 62, 29, 30, 36, 46, 49, 48, 54]) such as, Chebyshev approximation [3], Adomian's method [4, 46], Taylor polynomial approximations [62], homotopy perturbation method [29], the series expansion method [30], fixed point method [49], Haar wavelet method [48], rationalized Haar functions method [54]. Moreover, many collocation methods for approximating the solutions for Equation (1.43) have been developed recently (see, [12, 27, 52, 56, 71]) such as Lagrange spline collocation method

[12], cubic B-spline collocation method [27], quintic B-spline collocation method [52], Taylor collocation method [56], and sinc-collocation method for Volterra integral equations is used in [71]. The numerical solution of these equations has a high computational cost due to the nonlinearity and most of the collocation methods for nonlinear Volterra integral equations transform Equation (1.43) into a system of nonlinear algebraic equations.

iterative explicit solution to approximate the solution of nonlinear Volterra integral equation (1.43). The main advantages of the current collocation method are that it is direct and there is no algebraic system to be solved, which makes the proposed algorithm very effective, easy to implement and the calculation cost low.

This part is organized as follows: In chapter 1, we approximate the solution of (1.43) in the polynomial spline space of degree m - 1 as follows:

$$S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(I,\Pi_N) = \{u: u_n = u|_{\sigma_n} \in \pi_{m-1}, n = 0, ..., N-1\}.$$

In chapter 2, we approximate the solution of (1.43) in the polynomial spline space of degree *m* as follows

$$S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C(\mathbf{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_m, n = 0, ..., N-1 \}.$$

CHAPTER 2

ITERATIVE COLLOCATION METHOD FOR SOLVING NONLINEAR VOLTERRA INTEGRAL EQUATIONS

2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equations, (1.43) There are many collocation methods for approximating the solutions for Equation (1.43) have been developed recently (see, [12, 27, 52, 56, 71]) such as Lagrange spline collocation method [12], cubic B-spline collocation method [27], quintic B-spline collocation method [52], Taylor collocation method [56], and sinc-collocation method for Volterra integral equations is used in [71].

The numerical solution of these equations has a high computational cost due to the nonlinearity and most of the collocation methods for nonlinear Volterra integral equations transform Equation (1.43) into a system of nonlinear algebraic equations.

The remainder of the work is organized as follows. In section 2, we divide the interval [0, T] into subintervals, and we approximate the solution of (1.43) in each interval by using iterative Lagrange polynomials. Global convergence is established in section 3. Numerical examples are provided in section 4. In the last section, we give a conclusion.

2.2 Description of the method

Let Π_N be a uniform partition of the interval I = [0, T] defined by $t_n = nh$, n = 0, ..., N - 1, where the stepsize is given by $\frac{T}{N} = h$. Let the collocation parameters be $0 \le c_1 < ..., < c_m \le 1$ and the collocation points be $t_{n,j} = t_n + c_jh$, j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1. Define the subintervals $\sigma_n = [t_n, t_{n+1}]$, and $\sigma_{N-1} = [t_{N-1}, t_N]$.

Moreover, denote by π_m the set of all real polynomials of degree not exceeding *m*. We define the real polynomial spline space of degree *m* as follows:

$$S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(I,\Pi_N) = \{u: u_n = u|_{\sigma_n} \in \pi_{m-1}, n = 0, ..., N-1\}$$

This is the space of piecewise polynomials of degree at most m - 1. Its dimension is *Nm*. It holds for any $x \in C^m([0, T])$ that

$$x(t_n + sh) = \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(s)x(t_{n,j}) + \epsilon_n(s), \ \epsilon_n(s) = h^m \frac{x^m(\zeta_n(s))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^m (s - c_j),$$
(2.1)

where $s \in [0, 1]$ and $L_j(v) = \prod_{l \neq j}^m \frac{v - c_l}{c_j - c_l}$ are the Lagrange polynomials associate with the parameters $c_j, j = 1, ..., m$.

Inserting (2.1) into(1.43), we obtain for each j = 1, ..., m, , n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{aligned} x(t_{n,j}) &= f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} b_v K(t_{n,j}, t_{pv}, x(t_{pv})) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, x(t_{n,v})) \\ &+ o(h^m), \end{aligned}$$
(2.2)

such that $a_{j,v} = \int_0^{c_j} L_v(\eta) d\eta$ and $b_v = \int_0^1 L_v(\eta) d\eta$. It holds for any $u \in S_{m-1}^{-1}(I, \Pi_N)$ that

$$u(t_n + sh) = \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(s)u(t_{n,j}), s \in [0,1].$$
(2.3)

Now, we approximate the exact solution x by $u \in S_{m-1}^{-1}(I, \Pi_N)$ such that $u(t_{n,j})$ satisfy the following nonlinear system,

$$u(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} b_v K(t_{n,j}, t_{pv}, u(t_{pv})) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, u(t_{n,v})), \quad (2.4)$$

for j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1. Since the above system is nonlinear, we will use an iterative collocation solution $u^q \in S_{m-1}^{-1}(I, \Pi_N), q \in \mathbb{N}$, to approximate the exact solution of (1.43) such that

$$u^{q}(t_{n} + sh) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} L_{j}(s)u^{q}(t_{n,j}), s \in [0,1],$$
(2.5)

where the coefficients $u^{q}(t_{n,j})$ are given by the following formula:

$$u^{q}(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} b_{v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{pv}, u^{q}(t_{pv})) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, u^{q-1}(t_{n,v})), \quad (2.6)$$

such that the initial values $u^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (*J* is a bounded interval).

The above formula is explicit and the approximate solution u^q is given without needed to solve any algebraic system.

In the next section, we will prove the convergence of the approximate solution u^q to the exact solution x of (1.43), moreover, the order of convergence is m for all $q \ge m$.

2.3 Convergence analysis

In this section, we assume that the functions *K* satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to the third variable: there exist $L_1 \ge 0$ such that

$$|K(t, s, y_1) - K(t, s, y_2)| \le L|y_1 - y_2|.$$

The following result gives the existence and the uniqueness of a solution for the nonlinear system (2.4).

Lemma 2.3.1 For sufficiently small h, the nonlinear system (2.4) has a unique solution $u \in S_{m-1}^{-1}(I, \Pi_N)$. Moreover, the function u is bounded.

Proof. Claim 1. The nonlinear system (2.4) has a unique solution in $S_{m-1}^{-1}(I, \Pi_N)$. We will use the induction combined with the Banach fixed point theorem.

(i) On the interval $\sigma_0 = [t_0, t_1]$, the nonlinear system (2.4) becomes

$$u(t_{0,j}) = f(t_{0,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{0,j}, t_{0,v}, u(t_{0,v})), j = 1, ..., m$$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi : \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, ..., x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), ..., \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\Psi_j(x) = f(t_{0,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v} K(t_{0,j}, t_{0,v}, x_v).$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$||\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)|| \le hmaL||x - y||.$$

where $a = \max\{|a_{j,v}|, j = 1, ..., m, v = 1, ..., m\}$.

Since *hmaL* < 1 for sufficiently small *h*, then by Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (2.4) has a unique solution *u* on the interval σ_0 .

(ii) Suppose that *u* exists and unique on the intervals σ_i, *i* = 0, ..., *n* − 1 for *n* ≥ 1 and we show that *u* exists and unique on the interval σ_n.
 On the interval σ_n, the nonlinear system (2.4) becomes

$$u(t_{n,j}) = F(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, u(t_{n,v})), j = 1, ..., m$$
(2.7)

where, $F(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} b_v K(t_{n,j}, t_{pv}, u(t_{pv})).$ We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi: \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, ..., x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), ..., \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\Psi_j(x) = F(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, x_v).$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$\|\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)\| \le hmaL \|x - y\|$$

Since *hmaL* < 1 for sufficiently small *h*, then by Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (2.7) has a unique solution *u* on the interval σ_n .

Claim 2. The solution *u* is bounded.

We have, from (2.4), for n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| u(t_{n,j}) \right| &\leq |f(t_{n,j})| + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |b_v| |K(t_{n,j}, t_{pv}, 0))| + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} |a_{j,v}| |K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, 0))| \\ &+ h L \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |b_v| |u(t_{pv})| + h L \sum_{v=1}^{m} |a_{j,v}| |u(t_{n,v})| \\ &\leq ||f|| + h b m \overline{K} T + T m a \overline{K} + h L b \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |u(t_{pv})| + h L a \sum_{v=1}^{m} |u(t_{n,v})|, \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.8)$$

where $||f|| = \max\{|f(t)|, t \in I\}, b = \max\{|b_j|, j = 1, ..., m\},\ a = \max\{|a_{j,v}|, j = 1, ..., m, v = 1, ..., m\}.$

Now, we consider the sequence $y_n = \max\{u(t_{n,p}), p = 1, ..., m\}$ for n = 0, ..., N - 1. Then, from (2.8), y_n satisfies for n = 0, ..., N - 1,

$$y_n \le \underbrace{\|f\| + hbm\overline{K}T + Tma\overline{K}}_{\alpha} + hLbm\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} y_p + hLamy_n,$$

Hence, for $\overline{h} < \frac{1}{Lam}$, we have for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$

$$y_n \leq \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}Lam} + \frac{hLbm}{1 - \overline{h}Lam} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} y_p.$$

We deduce, by Lemma (1.7.1), that for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$y_n \leq \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}Lam} \exp\left(\frac{TLbm}{1 - \overline{h}Lam}\right).$$

Thus, by using (2.3), we deduce that u is bounded.

The following result gives the convergence of the approximate solution u to the exact solution x.

Theorem 2.3.1 Let f, K be m times continuously differentiable on their respective domains. Then for sufficiently small h, the collocation solution u converges to the exact solution x, and the resulting error function e := x - u satisfies:

$$\|e\|\leq Ch^m,$$

where *C* is a finite constant independent of *h*.

Proof. We have, from (2.4) and (2.2), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$|e(t_{n,j})| \leq hL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |b_v| |e(t_{pv})| + hL \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} |e(t_{n,v})| + \alpha h^m$$

$$\leq hLb \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e(t_{pv})| + hLa \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e(t_{n,v})| + \alpha h^m,$$
(2.9)

where α is a positive number.

We consider the sequence $e_n = \max\{|e(t_{n,v})|, v = 1, ..., m\}$ for n = 0, ..., N - 1.

Then, from (2.9), e_n satisfies for n = 0, ..., N - 1,

$$e_n \leq hLbm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^m e_p + hLame_n + \alpha h^m,$$

Hence, for $\overline{h} < \frac{1}{Lam}$, we have for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$

$$e_n \leq \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}Lam}h^m + \frac{hLbm}{1 - \overline{h}Lam}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1}e_p.$$

Then, by Lemma (1.7.1), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$e_n \leq \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}Lam} h^m \exp\left(\frac{TLbm}{1 - \overline{h}Lam}\right).$$

Therefore, by using (2.1) and (2.3), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|e\| &\leq m\overline{L}\max\{e_n, n=0, ..., N-1\} + \alpha h^m \\ &\leq m\overline{L}\frac{\alpha}{1-\overline{h}Lam}\exp\left(\frac{TLbm}{1-\overline{h}Lam}\right)h^m + \alpha h^m \end{aligned}$$

where $\overline{L} = \max\{|L_j(s)|, j = 1, ..., m, s \in [0, 1]\}$. Thus, the proof is completed by taking $C = m\overline{L}_{1-\overline{h}Lam} \exp\left(\frac{TLbm}{1-\overline{h}Lam}\right) + \alpha$. The following result gives the convergence of the iterative solution u^q to the exact solution x.

Theorem 2.3.2 Consider the iterative collocation solution u^q , $q \ge 1$ defined by (2.5) and (2.6), then for any initial condition $u^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$, the iterative collocation solution u^q , $q \ge 1$ converges to the exact solution x. Moreover, for sufficiently small h, the following error estimate holds

$$\|u^q - x\| \le d\beta^q h^q + Ch^m,$$

where d, β and C are finite constants independent of h.

Proof. We define the error e^q and ξ^q by $e^q(t) = u^q(t) - x(t)$ and $\xi^q = u^q(t) - u(t)$, where u is defined by lemma (2.3.1).

We have, from (2.4) and (2.6), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$|\xi^{q}(t_{n,j})| \leq hLb \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi^{q}(t_{pv})| + hLa \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi^{q-1}(t_{n,v})|.$$

Now, for each fixed $q \ge 1$, we consider the sequence $\xi_n^q = \max\{|\xi^q(t_{n,v})| v = 1....m\}$ for n = 0, ..., N - 1, it follows that,

$$\xi_n^q \le hLbm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \xi_p^q + hLam\xi_n^{q-1}.$$

Hence, by Lemma (1.7.3), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\xi_n^q \le hLam\xi_n^{q-1} + h^2 L^2 abm^2 \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \xi_p^{q-1} \exp(TLam).$$
(2.10)

We consider the sequence $\eta^q = \max{\xi_n^q, n = 0, ..., N - 1}$ for $q \ge 1$. Then, from (2.10), η^q satisfies,

$$\eta^{q} \leq hLam\eta^{q-1} + ThL^{2}abm^{2}\eta^{q-1}\exp(TLam)$$
$$= \underbrace{(Lam + TL^{2}abm^{2}\exp(TLam))}_{\beta}h\eta^{q-1}$$
$$\leq \beta^{2}h^{2}\eta^{q-2} \leq \dots \leq \beta^{q}h^{q}\eta^{0}.$$

Since, $u^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (bounded interval) and u is bounded by lemma (2.3.1), then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\eta^0 < \delta$, which implies that, for all $q \ge 1$

$$\eta^q \le \delta \beta^q h^q.$$

Therefore, by using (2.3) and (2.5), we obtain

$$\|\xi^q\| \le m\overline{L}\eta^q \le m\overline{L}\delta\beta^q h^q,$$

Hence, by theorem (2.3.1), we deduce that

$$||e^{q}|| \le ||\xi^{q}|| + ||u - x|| \le d\beta^{q}h^{q} + Ch^{m}.$$

Thus, the proof is completed.

2.4 Numerical examples

To illustrate the theoretical results obtained in the previous section, we present the following examples with T = 1. All the exact solutions x are already known. In each example, we calculate the error between x and the iterative collocation solution u^m . We compare our results by other methods in [66, 27, 36, 4, 52, 49].

The results in these examples confirm the theoretical results; moreover, the results obtained by the present method is very superior to that obtained by the methods in [66, 27, 36, 4, 52, 49].

Example 2.4.1 ([66]) We consider the following linear Volterra integral equation of second kind

$$x(t) = (1 + \lambda t - \lambda t^2)e^t - \lambda t + \lambda \int_0^t tsx(s)ds, t \in [0, 1],$$

where $\lambda = \frac{1}{10}$ and the exact solution is $x(t) = e^t$.

The absolute errors for N = 4 and m = q = 5 and m = q = 6at t = 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1 are compared with the absolute error of Iterative method [66] in Table 2.1.

t	Iterative method [66]		Present method		
	e_5	<i>e</i> ₆	m = 5	m = 6	
0.25	7.85 E −5	7.85 E −5	9.63 E –8	3.43 E –8	
0.5	3.72 Е -6	3.72 Е -6	1.14 Е -7	9.29 E –9	
0.75	1.79 E –5	1.79 E –5	1.25 Е –7	4.61 E –9	
1.0	2.17 Е –6	2.17 Е –6	8.38 E -7	1.25 E –8	

Table 2.1: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 2.4.1

Example 2.4.2 ([27, 36]) Consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x(t) = 1 + (\sin(t))^2 - \int_0^t 3\sin(t-s)(x(s))^2 ds, \ t \in [0,1],$$

where u(x) = cos(x) is the exact solution. We used the new method and obtained the results shown in table 2.2.

The absolute errors for N = 10,20 and m = 4 at t = 0,0.1,...,1 are displayed in Table 2.2. The numerical results of the present method are considerable accurate in comparison with the numerical results obtained by [27, 36].

t	Method in [27]		Method in [36]		Our method	
	N = 10	N = 20	N = 10	<i>N</i> = 20	N = 10	<i>N</i> = 20
0.1	1.01 E -5	1.59 Е –6	1.24 E –5	2.54 E –8	9.82 E –8	5.57 Е –9
0.2	2.48 E -5	3.26 Е -6	1.62 Е -6	3.44 Е -7	1.41 Е –7	3.34 Е –9
0.3	3.65 E –5	4.72 Е -6	2.03 E −4	9.19 E –7	2.04 E –7	1.47 Е –8
0.4	4.61 E −5	5.87 Е -6	2.07 E −5	1.44 Е -6	2.72 Е -7	1.60 E –8
0.5	5.26 E -5	6.63 E –6	3.84 E –5	1.88 E –6	3.56 E –7	2.28 E –8
0.6	5.59 E -5	6.98 E –6	5.11 E –5	2.18 E –6	4.34 E –7	2.67 E –8
0.7	5.58 E -5	6.92 E –6	7.22 E –5	1.83 Е -6	5.11 Е -7	3.46 E –8
0.8	5.28 E -5	6.47 E –6	6.43 E –5	6.41 E –6	5.62 E –7	3.26 E –8
0.9	4.65 E −5	5.70 E –6	1.96 E –5	1.00 Е –4	6.02 E –7	4.50 E −8
1	3.97 E −5	4.71 Е -6	6.36 E –4	9.25 E –4	4.66 E −7	2.43 E -8

Table 2.2: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 2.4.2

Example 2.4.3 ([4, 52, 49]) Consider the following linear Volterra integral equation with exact solution $y(t) = 1 - \sinh(t)$:

$$x(t) = 1 - t - \frac{t^2}{2} \int_0^t (t - s) x(s) ds, \ t \in [0, 1].$$

The absolute errors for m = 4 and N = 20 at t = 0, 0.2, ..., 1 are displayed in Table 2.3. The numerical results obtained here are compared in Table 2.3 with the numerical results obtained by using the methods in [4, 52].

It is seen from Table 2.3 that the results obtained by the present method is very superior to that obtained by the methods in [4, 52].

t	Our method	Method in [4]	Method in [52]	
	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 20	
0.0	1.00 Е - 9	0	1.98 Е –14	
0.1	4.80 E −10	5.63 E -6	1.21 E –7	
0.2	1.85 Е –9	2.20 E -5	2.35 E –7	
0.3	2.05 E –9	4.82 E −5	3.54 E –7	
0.4	1.69 E –9	8.33 E –5	4.77 Е –7	
0.5	2.90 E –9	1.26 Е –4	6.05 Е –7	
0.6	4.05 E –9	1.77 Е –4	7.39 E –7	
0.7	4.56 E –9	2.34 E -4	8.80 E -7	
0.8	5.41 E –9	2.97 E –4	1.03 E –6	
0.9	6.89 E –9	3.65 E –4	1.19 Е —6	
1	1.55 Е –8	4.38 E −4	1.36 E -6	

Table 2.3: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 2. 4.3

Example 2.4.4 ([49]) We consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x(t) = \frac{t}{e^{t^2}} + \int_0^t 2ts e^{-x^2(s)} ds, t \in [0, 1],$$

where the exact solution is x(t) = t.

The absolute errors for N = 20 and m = q = 10 at t = 0, 0.2, ..., 1 are compared with the absolute error of the method in [49] in Table 2.4.

t	Method in [66]	Our method		
	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 20		
0	0	2.58 E –9		
0.2	1.49 Е –8	2.57 E -8		
0.4	7.74 E –7	2.61 E -7		
0.6	9.36 Е –6	4.54 E –7		
0.8	4.58 E −5	1.51 Е –6		
1	1.29 Е –4	1.60 Е –6		

Table 2.4: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 2. 4.4

Example 2.4.5 ([49]) We consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x(t) = t\cos(t) + \int_0^t t\sin(x(s))ds, t \in [0, 1],$$

where the exact solution is x(t) = t.

The absolute errors for N = 25 and m = q = 4 at t = 0.001, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1 are compared with the absolute error of the method in [49] in Table 2.4.5. It is seen from Table 2.5 that the results obtained by the present method is very superior to that obtained by the method in [49].

t	Method in [49]	Our method		
	<i>N</i> = 25	N = 25		
0.001	4.65 E −10	1.75 E –11		
0.2	3.53 E –6	3.00 E -10		
0.4	5.81 Е -6	4.00 E -10		
0.6	7.74 E –7	9.00 E -10		
0.8	1.20 Е –5	4.00 E −10		
1	3.98 E −5	3.68 E –8		

Table 2.5: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 2. 4.5

2.5 Conclusion

n this chapter, we have proposed a iterative collocation method based on the use of Lagrange polynomials to approximate the solution of the volterra integral equation (1.43) in the spline space $S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(I, \Pi_N)$ We have shown that the numerical solution is convergent. This method is easy to implement, and the coefficients of the approximation solution are determined by iterative formulas without the need to solve any system of algebraic equations. The numerical examples introduced have shown that the method is convergent with a good accuracy

CHAPTER 3

ITERATIVE CONTINUOUS COLLOCATION METHOD FOR SOLVING NONLINEAR VOLTERRA INTEGRAL EQUATIONS

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equations, (1.43) where the functions *f*, *K* are sufficiently smooth.

There are many collocation methods for approximating the solutions for Equation (1.43) have been developed recently (see,[27, 36, 52, 4, 49])

such as cubic B-spline collocation method [27], the Adomian decomposition method for nonlinear Volterra integral equations [36], quintic B-spline collocation method [52], and Adomian decomposition method for linear Volterra integral equations is used in [4], Fixed point method for solving nonlinear Volterra-Hammerstein integral equation [49].

This chapter is concerned with the iterative continuous collocation method to obtain an approximate solution for Volterra integral, our method presents some advantages:

- It provides a global approximation of the solution
- Without needed to solve any algebraic system
- High order of convergence
- Provides an explicit numerical solution and easy to be implemented.

This chapter is organized as follows: In section 2, we divide the interval [0, T] into subintervals, and we approximate the solution of (1.43) in each interval by using iterative Lagrange polynomials. Global convergence is established in section 3. Finally, we report our numerical results and demonstrate the efficiency and accuracy of the proposed numerical scheme by considering some numerical examples in section 4.

3.2 Description of the method

Let Π_N be a uniform partition of the interval I = [0, T] defined by $t_n = nh, n = 0, ..., N-1$, where the stepsize is given by $\frac{T}{N} = h$. Let the collocation parameters be $0 \le c_1 < ... < c_m \le 1$ and the collocation points be $t_{n,j} = t_n + c_jh$, j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N-1. Define the subintervals $\sigma_n = [t_n, t_{n+1}]$.

Moreover, denote by π_m the set of all real polynomials of degree not exceeding *m*.

We define the real polynomial spline space of degree m as follows

$$S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C(\mathbf{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_m, n = 0, \dots, N-1 \}.$$

It holds for any $x \in C^{m+1}([0, T])$ that

$$x(t_n + sh) = L_0(s)x(t_n) + \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(s)x(t_{n,j}) + h^{m+1}\frac{x^{(m+1)}(\zeta_n(s))}{(m+1)!}s\prod_{j=1}^m (s - c_j),$$
(3.1)

where $s \in [0,1]$, $L_0(v) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{v-c_l}{c_l}$ and $L_j(v) = \frac{v}{c_j} \prod_{l\neq j}^m \frac{v-c_l}{c_j-c_l}$, j = 1, ..., m are the Lagrange polynomials associated with the parameters c_j , j = 1, ..., m.

Inserting (3.1) for the function $s \mapsto K(t, s, x(s))ds$ into (1.43), we obtain for each j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{aligned} x(t_{n,j}) &= f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} b_0 K(t_{n,j}, t_p, x(t_p)) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^m b_v K(t_{n,j}, t_{p,v}, x(t_{p,v})) \\ &+ h a_{j,0} K(t_{n,j}, t_n, x(t_n)) + h \sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, x(t_{n,v})) + o(h^{m+1}), \end{aligned}$$
(3.2)

such that $a_{j,v} = \int_0^{c_j} L_v(\eta) d\eta$ and $b_v = \int_0^1 L_v(\eta) d\eta$, $v = 0, \dots, m$.

It holds for any $u \in S_m^0(I, \Pi_N)$ that

$$u_n(t_n + sh) = L_0(s)u_{n-1}(t_n) + \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(s)u_n(t_{n,j}), s \in [0, 1].$$
(3.3)

Now, we approximate the exact solution x by $u \in S_m^0(I, \Pi_N)$ such that $u(t_{n,j})$ satisfies the following nonlinear system,

$$u_{n}(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} b_{0} K(t_{n,j}, t_{p}, u_{p}(t_{p})) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} b_{v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{p,v}, u_{p}(t_{p,v})) + ha_{j,0} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n}, u_{n-1}(t_{n})) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, u_{n}(t_{n,v})),$$
(3.4)

for j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1, where $u_{-1}(t_0) = x(0) = f(0)$.

Since the above system is nonlinear, we will use an iterative collocation solution $u^q \in S^0_m(I, \Pi_N), q \in \mathbb{N}$, to approximate the exact solution of (1.43) such that

$$u_n^q(t_n + sh) = L_0(s)u_{n-1}^q(t_n) + \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(s)u_n^q(t_{n,j}), s \in [0,1],$$
(3.5)

where the coefficients $u_n^q(t_{n,j})$ are given by the following formula:

$$u_{n}^{q}(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} b_{0} K(t_{n,j}, t_{p}, u_{p}^{q}(t_{p})) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} b_{v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{p,v}, u_{p}^{q}(t_{p,v})) + h a_{j,0} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n}, u_{n-1}^{q}(t_{n})) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, u_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n,v})),$$
(3.6)

such that $u_{-1}^q(t_0) = f(0)$ for all $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and the initial values $u^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (*J* is a bounded interval).

The above formula is explicit and the approximate solution u^q is obtained without solving any algebraic system. The complexity of the proposed algorithm can be measured in terms of how many times the function *K* must be evaluated at each collocation point.

From formula (3.5) it follows that the number of such evaluations is O(mn) for each iteration. Since the optimal number of iterations is q = m + 1 (as it will be shown in the next section), we conclude that the total number of evaluations is $O(m^2 n)$, which makes this method competitive, in comparison with other methods where a nonlinear

system of equations is solved by an iterative algorithm.

In the next section, we prove the convergence of the approximate solution u^q to the exact solution x of (1.43) is of order m for all $q \ge m$.

3.3 Convergence analysis

In this section, we assume that the function *K* satisfies the Lipschitz condition with respect to the third variable: there exist $L \ge 0$ such that

$$|K(t, s, y_1) - K(t, s, y_2)| \le L|y_1 - y_2|.$$

The following result gives the existence and the uniqueness of a solution for the nonlinear system (3.4).

Lemma 3.3.1 The nonlinear system (3.4) has a unique solution $u \in S_m^0(I, \Pi_N)$ for sufficiently small *h*.

Proof. We will use the induction combined with the Banach fixed point theorem.

(i) On the interval $\sigma_0 = [t_0, t_1]$, the nonlinear system (3.4) becomes

$$u_0(t_{0,j}) = f(t_{0,j}) + ha_{j,0}K(t_{0,j}, t_0, f(0)) + h\sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v}K(t_{0,j}, t_{0,v}, u_0(t_{0,v})), j = 1, \dots, m.$$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by

$$\Psi: \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), \dots, \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\Psi_j(x) = f(t_{0,j}) + ha_{j,0}K(t_{0,j}, t_0, f(0)) + h\sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v}K(t_{0,j}, t_{0,v}, x_v)$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$\|\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)\| \le hmaL \|x - y\|,$$

where $a = \max\{|a_{j,v}|, j = 1, ..., m, v = 0, ..., m\}$.

Since *hmaL* < 1 for sufficiently small *h*, then by the Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (3.4) has a unique solution u_0 on σ_0 .

(ii) Suppose that u_i exists and unique on the intervals σ_i , i = 0, ..., n - 1 for $n \ge 1$, we show that u_n exists and is unique on the interval σ_n .

On the interval σ_n , the nonlinear system (3.4) becomes

$$u_n(t_{n,j}) = F(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, u_n(t_{n,v})),$$
(3.7)

where, $F(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} b_0 K(t_{n,j}, t_p, u_p(t_p)) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^m b_v K(t_{n,j}, t_{p,v}, u_p(t_{p,v})) + h a_{j,0} K(t_{n,j}, t_n, u_{n-1}(t_n)).$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi: \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), \dots, \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for $j = 1, \ldots, m$

$$\Psi_j(x) = F(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m a_{j,v} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n,v}, x_v).$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$

$$||\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)|| \le hmaL||x - y||$$

Since *hmaL* < 1 for sufficiently small *h*, then by the Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (3.7) has a unique solution u_n on σ_n .

The following result gives the convergence of the approximate solution u to the exact solution x.

Theorem 3.3.1 Let f, K be m + 1 times continuously differentiable on their respective domains. If $-1 < R(\infty) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{1-c_l}{c_l} < 1$, then, for sufficiently small h, the collocation solution u converges to the exact solution x, and the resulting error function e := x - u satisfies:

$$||e|| \leq Ch^{m+1},$$

where *C* is a finite constant independent of *h*.

Proof. Define the error e on σ_n by $e(t) = e_n(t) = x(t) - u_n(t)$ for all $n \in \{0, 1, \dots, N-1\}$.

We have, from (3.4) and (3.2), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$|e_{n}(t_{n,j})| \leq hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} |e_{p}(t_{p})| + hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e_{p}(t_{p,v})| + haL|e_{n-1}(t_{n})| + haL \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e_{n}(t_{n,v})| + \alpha h^{m+1},$$
(3.8)

where α is a positive number and $e_{-1}(t_0) = 0$.

We consider the sequence $\varepsilon_n = \sum_{v=1}^m |e_n(t_{n,v})|$ for n = 0, ..., N - 1.

Then, from (3.8), ε_n satisfies for n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\varepsilon_n \le hbLm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} |e_p(t_p)| + hbLm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_p + haLm |e_{n-1}(t_n)| + haLm\varepsilon_n + \alpha mh^{m+1}$$
$$\le 2hbLm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e_p|| + hbLm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_p + haLm\varepsilon_n + \alpha mh^{m+1}.$$

Hence, for $\overline{h} < \frac{1}{Lam}$ and $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$, we have

$$\varepsilon_n \leq \frac{2bLm}{\underbrace{1-Lam\bar{h}}} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e_p|| + \underbrace{\frac{bLm}{1-Lam\bar{h}}}_{\alpha_2} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_p + \underbrace{\frac{\alpha m}{1-Lam\bar{h}}}_{\alpha_3} h^{m+1}.$$

Then, by Lemma 1.7.2, for all $n = 0, \ldots, N - 1$

$$\varepsilon_n \leq \underbrace{\alpha_1 \exp(T\alpha_2)}_{\alpha_4} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e_p|| + \underbrace{\alpha_3 \exp(T\alpha_2)}_{\alpha_5} h^{m+1}.$$

Therefore, by using (3.1) and (3.3), we obtain

$$||e_{n}|| \leq |R(\infty)|||e_{n-1}|| + \rho \varepsilon_{n} + \beta h^{m+1}$$

$$\leq |R(\infty)|||e_{n-1}|| + \underbrace{\rho \alpha_{4}}_{\alpha_{6}} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e_{p}|| + \underbrace{(\rho \alpha_{5} + \beta)}_{\alpha_{7}} h^{m+1}.$$

where $\rho = \max\{|L_j(t)|, t \in [0, 1]; j = 1, ..., m\}.$

Hence by Lemma 1.7.4, we obtain for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} \|e_n\| &\leq \frac{\|e_0\|}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^n + (1 - R_1)R_1^n] + \frac{\alpha_7 h^{m+1}}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^n - R_1^n] \\ &\leq \frac{\|e_0\|}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{\alpha_7 h^{m+1}}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}]\right) \alpha_7 h^{m+1}, \end{split}$$

where R_1, R_2 are defined by (1.42) such that $A = |R(\infty)|, B = \alpha_6 h, K = \alpha_7 h^{m+1}$.

Since,
$$\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} \left[(R_2 - 1) R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1 \right] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} \left[R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} \right] \right) = \frac{1}{1 - |R(\infty)|} \exp\left(\frac{2T\alpha_6}{1 - |R(\infty)|} \right) < +\infty.$$

Then, there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$.

$$\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \le \gamma,$$

Thus, the proof is completed by taking $C = \alpha_7 \gamma$.

The following result gives the convergence of the iterative solution u^q to the exact solution *x*.

Theorem 3.3.2 Consider the iterative collocation solution u^q , $q \ge 1$ defined by (3.5) and (3.6), if $-1 < R(\infty) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{1-c_l}{c_l} < 1$, then for any initial condition $u^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$, the iterative collocation solution u^q , $q \ge 1$ converges to the exact solution x for sufficiently small h. Moreover, the following error estimate holds

$$||u^q - x|| \le d\beta^q h^q + Ch^{m+1}$$

where d, β and C are finite constants independent of h.

Proof. We define the errors e^q and ξ^q by $e^q(t) = e_n^q(t) = u_n^q(t) - x(t)$ and

 $\xi^q = \xi^q_n = u^q_n(t) - u_n(t)$ on $\sigma_n, n = 0, \dots, N - 1$, where *u* is defined by Lemma 3.3.1.

We have, from (3.4) and (3.6), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi_n^q(t_{n,j})| &\leq hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} |\xi_p^q(t_p)| + hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^m |\xi_p^q(t_{p,v})| + haL |\xi_{n-1}^q(t_n)| \\ &+ haL \sum_{v=1}^m |\xi_n^{q-1}(t_{n,v})|. \end{aligned}$$

Now, for each fixed $q \ge 1$, we consider the sequence

$$\eta_n^q = \max\{|\xi_n^q(t_{n,v})|, v = 1, ..., m\}$$
 for $n = 0, ..., N - 1$, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \eta_n^q &\leq hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} |\xi_p^q(t_p)| + hbLm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \eta_p^q + haL |\xi_{n-1}^q(t_n)| + haLm \eta_n^{q-1} \\ &\leq 2hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_p^q|| + hbLm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \eta_p^q + haLm \eta_n^{q-1}. \end{split}$$

Hence, by Lemma 1.7.3, for all $n = 0, \ldots, N - 1$

$$\eta_n^q \le 2hbL \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_p^q|| + haLm\eta_n^{q-1} + \exp(TLbm)ab(hLm)^2 \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \eta_p^{q-1} + 2\exp(TLbm)Tm(bL)^2h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_p^q||.$$
(3.9)

We consider the sequence $\eta^q = \max\{\eta_n^q, n = 0, ..., N - 1\}$ for $q \ge 1$.

Then, from (3.9), η^q satisfies

$$\eta_n^q \le \underbrace{2(bL + \exp(TLbm)Tm(bL)^2)}_{\alpha_1} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|\xi_p^q\| + \alpha_2 h \eta^{q-1}.$$

where $\alpha_2 = (aLm + \exp(TLbm)abT(Lm)^2)$.

Therefore, by using (3.3) and (3.5), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\xi_{n}^{q}\| &\leq \|R(\infty)\| \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + \rho m\eta_{n}^{q} \\ &\leq \|R(\infty)\| \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + \rho m\alpha_{1}h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|\xi_{p}^{q}\| + \rho m\alpha_{2}h\eta^{q-1}. \end{split}$$

Hence by Lemma 1.7.4, we obtain for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{aligned} \|\xi_{n}^{q}\| &\leq \frac{\|\xi_{0}^{q}\|}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [(R_{2}-1)R_{2}^{n}+(1-R_{1})R_{1}^{n}] + \frac{\rho m \alpha_{2} h \eta^{q-1}}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [R_{2}^{n}-R_{1}^{n}] \\ &\leq \frac{\|\xi_{0}^{q}\|}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [(R_{2}-1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}+1] + \frac{\rho m \alpha_{2} h \eta^{q-1}}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}] \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [(R_{2}-1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}+1] + \frac{1}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}]\right) \rho m \alpha_{2} h \eta^{q-1}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.10)

where R_1 and R_2 are defined by (1.42) such that $A = |R(\infty)|, B = \rho m \alpha_1 h$,

 $K = \rho m \alpha_2 h \eta^{q-1}.$ Since, $\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} \left[(R_2 - 1) R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1 \right] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} \left[R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} \right] \right) = \frac{\exp(\frac{2T\rho m \alpha_1}{1 - |R(\infty)|})}{1 - |R(\infty)|} < +\infty.$

Then, there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$

$$\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \le \gamma.$$

It follows, from (3.10), that for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\|\xi_n^q\| \le \gamma \rho m \alpha_2 h \eta^{q-1} \le \gamma \rho m \alpha_2 h \|\xi^{q-1}\|,$$

which implies, for all $q \ge 1$, that

$$\|\xi^q\| \le \gamma \rho m \alpha_2 h \|\xi^{q-1}\| \le \dots \le (\gamma \rho m \alpha_2)^q h^q \|\xi^0\|.$$

Since, $u_{-1}^0(t_0) = f(0), u^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (bounded interval), then by (3.3) the function

 u^0 is bounded.

Hence there exists d > 0 such that $||\xi^0|| = ||u^0 - u|| \le ||u^0 - x|| + ||x - u|| < d$. Which implies that, for all $q \ge 1$

$$\|\xi^q\| \le d(\underbrace{\gamma\rho m\alpha_2}_{\beta})^q h^q.$$

Hence, by theorem 3.3.1, we deduce that

$$||e^{q}|| \leq ||\xi^{q}|| + ||u - x|| \leq d\beta^{q}h^{q} + Ch^{m+1}.$$

Thus, the proof is completed. ■

Remark 3.3.1 From the error estimate in Theorem 3.3.2 it follows that the optimal number of iterations is q = m + 1. Actually, with m + 1 iterations the total error has the order of $O(h^{m+1})$, which will not be improved if more iterations are performed.

3.4 Numerical examples

In order to test the applicability of the presented method, we consider the following examples with T = 1. These examples have been solved with various values of N, m and q. In each example, we calculate the error between x and the iterative collocation solution u^q .

The absolute errors at some particular points are given to compare our solutions with the solutions obtained by [4, 27, 36, 49, 52].

These results of these numerical examples are in agreement with the theory presented in Section 3 and they confirm the advantages of our method in comparison with those described in [4, 27, 36, 49, 52].

Example 3.4.1 ([27, 36]) Consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x(t) = 1 + (\sin(t))^2 - \int_0^t 3\sin(t-s)(x(s))^2 ds, t \in [0,1],$$

where $u(x) = \cos(x)$ is the exact solution.

The absolute errors for N = 10, 20 and m = q = 3 at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are displayed in Table 3.1. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1} + \frac{1}{5}, i = 1, ..., m$ and $R(\infty) = -0.02$. The

numerical results obtained by the present method are considerably more accurate in comparison with the numerical results obtained in [27, 36].

t	Method in [27]		Method in [36]		Our method	
	N = 10	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 10	<i>N</i> = 20	N = 10	<i>N</i> = 20
0.1	1.01E-5	1.59E-6	1.24E-5	2.54E-8	3.32E-8	7.92E-9
0.2	2.48E-5	3.26E-6	1.62E-6	3.44E-7	1.84E-9	5.15E-9
0.3	3.65E-5	4.72E-6	2.03E-4	9.19E-7	3.58E-8	3.87E-9
0.4	4.61E-5	5.87E-6	2.07E-5	1.44E-6	5.29E-8	8.00E-9
0.5	5.26E-5	6.63E-6	3.84E-5	1.88E-6	9.91E-8	8.90E-10
0.6	5.59E-5	6.98E-6	5.11E-5	2.18E-6	1.48E-7	5.90E-9
0.7	5.58E-5	6.92E-6	7.22E-5	1.83E-6	1.77E-7	9.71E-9
0.8	5.28E-5	6.47E-6	6.43E-5	6.41E-6	2.00E-7	3.34E-9
0.9	4.65E-5	5.70E-6	1.96E-5	1.00E-4	2.04E-7	2.07E-8
1	3.97E-5	4.71E-6	6.36E-4	9.25E-4	1.95E-7	5.13E-9

Table 3.1: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 3.4.1
Example 3.4.2 ([4, 52]) Consider the following linear Volterra integral equation with exact solution $x(t) = 1 - \sinh(t)$:

$$x(t) = 1 - t - \frac{t^2}{2} + \int_0^t (t - s)x(s)ds, t \in [0, 1].$$

The absolute errors for m = q = 3 and N = 20 at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are displayed in Table 3.2. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1} + \frac{1}{5}$, i = 1, ..., m and $R(\infty) = -0.02$. The numerical results obtained here are compared in Table 3.2 with the numerical results obtained by using the methods in [4, 52].

It is seen from Table 3.2 that the results obtained by the present method are much more accurate than those obtained in [4, 52].

The absolute errors for N = 5 and $(q, m) \in \{(2, 2), (3, 2), (3, 3), (3, 5), (4, 5)\}$ at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are presented in Table 3.3, we note that the absolute error reduces as q or m increases.

We calculate the experimental order of convergence (EOC) at t = 1 for $N = 2^l$, l = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, m = 1, 2, 3 and q = m + 1 in Table 3.4, the result confirm the theoretical result and suggest that that the order of convergence with q = m + 1 is m + 1. As we have remarked (see Remark 3.3.1) this is the maximal convergence order that can be obtained with the present method.

Moreover, we calculate the run time to solve the approximate solution u for N = 6, ..., 10, m = 7, ..., 10 and q = m + 1, the numerical results are solved by using Maple version 16.

The computations were performed in a PC with a 2.16 GHz processor, running with 2.00 Go RAM. As it could be expected, the computing time increases with m and N; however we cannot see a simple relationship between the computing time and the complexity of the algorithm, probably because this time depends on other factors than the number of evaluations of the function K. This table shows that accurate results can be obtained by our method in a small computer with a low computational cost.

t	Our n	nethod	Method in	Method in
	N = 10	<i>N</i> = 20	[4]	[52]
0.0	0	0	0	1.98E-14
0.1	1.30E-8	1.98E-9	5.38E-6	1.21E-7
0.2	3.35E-8	2.54E-9	2.20E-5	2.35E-7
0.3	3.14E-8	6.55E-9	4.82E-5	3.54E-7
0.4	5.98E-8	5.80E-9	8.33E-5	4.77E-7
0.5	6.94E-8	3.50E-9	1.26E-4	6.05E-7
0.6	8.01E-8	8.51E-10	1.77E-4	7.39E-7
0.7	1.00E-7	5.83E-9	2.34E-4	8.80E-7
0.8	1.15E-7	7.38E-9	2.97E-4	1.03E-6
0.9	1.37E-7	8.90E-9	3.65E - 4	1.19E-6
1	1.62E-7	9.38E-9	4.38E-4	1.36E-6

Table 3.2: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 3.4.2

Table 3.3: Absolute errors for Example 3.4.2

t	<i>q</i> = 2	<i>q</i> = 3	q = 3	<i>q</i> = 3	q = 4
	m = 2	m = 2	m = 3	m = 5	m = 5
0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	8.231E-6	7.282E-6	3.015E-7	7.451E-8	3.701E-8
0.2	8.563E-5	8.373E-5	4.115E-7	1.147E-6	8.474E-7
0.3	1.053E-5	7.583E-6	6.394E-7	5.824E-8	4.007E-8
0.4	1.027E-4	9.863E-5	8.478E-7	8.031E-7	4.328E-7
0.5	1.064E-5	5.410E-6	1.017E-6	2.316E-8	1.897E-8
0.6	1.143E-4	1.070E-4	1.324E-6	1.058E-7	4.785E-8
0.7	1.033E-5	2.283E-6	1.470E-6	1.309E-8	3.040E-8
0.8	1.297E-4	1.175E-4	1.909E-6	1.114E-7	7.258E-8
0.9	9.861E-6	1.815E-6	2.021E-6	8.470E-9	8.137E-10
1	1.514E-4	1.314E-4	2.620E-6	1.156E-7	4.245E-8

Example 3.4.3 ([49]) We consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x(t) = \frac{t}{e^{t^2}} + \int_0^t 2ts e^{-x^2(s)} ds, t \in [0, 1],$$

where the exact solution is x(t) = t.

The absolute errors for N = 20 and m = 3, q = 5 at t = 0, 0.2, ..., 1 are compared with the absolute error of the method in [49] in Table 3.5.

Where the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+3} + \frac{1}{5}$, i = 1, ..., m and $R(\infty) = -0.64$.

N	m = 1	m = 2	m = 3		
2					
4	2.04	2.91	4.00		
8	2.05	2.96	4.01		
16	2.04	2.91	4.00		
32	2.04	2.91	4.00		
EOC of Example3.4.2					

Table 3.4: EOC and the run-time/sec of Example	3.4	1.2)
--	-----	-----	---

m = 7

3.9

5.8

8.9

13.3

17.4

Ν

6 7

8

9

10

m = 8

5.6

9.9

16.7

32.7

35.9

m = 9

9.9

17.9

24.3

43.9

126.3

m = 10

14.8

31.1

56.6

118.4

232.3

Table 3.5: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 3. 3.4.3

t	Method in [49]	Our method
	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 20
0	0	0
0.2	1.49E-8	8.9E-9
0.4	7.74E-7	2.69E-8
0.6	9.36E-6	8.90E-9
0.8	4.58E-5	3.39E-8
1	1.29E-4	2.49E-8

Example 3.4.4 ([49]) We consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x(t) = t\cos(t) + \int_0^t t\sin(x(s))ds, t \in [0, 1],$$

where the exact solution is x(t) = t.

The absolute errors for N = 25 and m = q = 4 at t = 0.001, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1 are compared with the absolute error of the method in [49] in Table 3.6.

Where the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+3} + \frac{1}{5}$, i = 1, ..., m and $R(\infty) = 0.35$.

It is seen from Table 3.6 that the results obtained by the present method is very superior to that obtained by the method in [49].

run-time/sec of Example3.4.2

t	Method in [49]	Our method
	N = 25	<i>N</i> = 25
0.001	1.25E-12	1.75E-11
0.2	3.53E-6	6.30E-8
0.4	5.81E-6	5.40E-8
0.6	7.74E-7	9.60E-8
0.8	1.20E-5	6.00E-9
1	3.98E-5	7.20E-8

Table 3.6: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 3.4.4

3.5 Conclusion

We have shown that the method yields an efficient and very accurate numerical method for the approximation of solution of the in the spline space In this chapter, we have used a iterative collocation method for the numerical solution of nonlinear volterra integral equation VIDEs (1.43) in the spline space $S_m^{(0)}(I, \Pi_N)$. It is proved that the method is convergent with an experimental order of convergence EOC = m + 1. This method is easy to implement and the coefficients of the approximation solution are determined by using iterative formulas without the need to solve any system of algebraic equations. Numerical examples showing that the method is convergent with a good accuracy and the numerical results confirmed the theoretical estimates.

CONCLUSION

In this part, we have used an iterative collocation method based on the Lagrange polynomials for the numerical solution of Volterra integral equations (1.43) in the spline space $S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(\Pi_N)$ and Iterative Continuous Collocation Method for Solving Nonlinear Volterra Integral Equations (1.43) in the spline space $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$. The main advantages of this method that, is easy to implement, has high order of convergence and the coefficients of the approximation solution are determined by using iterative formulas without the need to solve any system of algebraic equations. Numerical examples showing that the method is convergent with a good accuracy and the comparison of the results obtained by the present method with the other methods reveals that the method is very effective and convenient.

Part II

Numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation

INTRODUCTION

In this part, we investigate an continuous iterative colocation method for the following nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation

$$x'(t) = f(t) + Q(t, x(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s, x(s), x'(s))ds, \quad t \in I = [0, T]$$

$$x(t_0) = x_0,$$

(3.11)

where the functions *f*, *Q*, *K* are sufficiently smooth.

There are several numerical methods for approximating the solution of equation (3.11). For example, spectral methods, implicit Runge-Kutta methods, Galerkin methods, collocation methods, and Legendre wavelets series, (cf, e.g. [38, 58, 13, 2, 39, 40], and references therein).

The purpose of this part is to solve equation (3.11) by the iterative collocation method. The main idea of the iterative collocation method is to obtain an explicit solution without needed to solve any algebraic system. Many authors used this method to solve integral equations. L. Hacia [31], used the Iterative-Collocation Method to solve integral equations of heat conduction problems, H. Brunner [15] applied the iterated collocation methods to approximate the solution for Volterra integral equations with delay arguments. In [9, 65] the variational iteration method is used to solve integral

and integro-differential equations.

The collocation method has been introduced for the first time in 1937 by Frazer et al [28]. After that, many reaschers used it to solve many phenomena in physics and engineering such as unsteady heat condition problems and a viscous fluid problem. Recently, the collocation method has been used over a wide range of problems (cf, e.g. [22, 33, 57, 59]). Collocation methods have many good properties such as high order of convergence, strong stability properties and flexibility in such a way that if we know some information of the exact solution, then it is possible to choose the collocation functions and the collocation points in order to rise the order of convergence, see for example [21] in the case of ordinary differential equations, [44, 12] in the case of Volterra integral equations. and [41] in the case of Numerical solution of high-order linear Volterra integro-differential equations by using Taylor collocation method.

This part is concerned with the iterative collocation method to obtain an approximate solution for (3.11), our method presents some advantages:

- It provides a global approximation of the solution
- Without needed to solve any algebraic system
- High order of convergence
- Provides an explicit numerical solution and easy to be implemented.

The outlines of this part is as follows. In chapter 4, we approximate the solution of (3.11) in the space of continuous piecewise polynomials of degree *m* as follows

$$S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C(\mathbf{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_m, n = 0, ..., N - 1 \}.$$

and in chapter 5 we approximate the solution of (3.11) in the space of continuous piecewise polynomials of degree m + 1 as follows

$$S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C^1(\mathrm{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi \}$$

Each chapter are organized as follows.

In section 2, the spline polynomial has been used to approximate equation (3.11) based on the iterative collocation method, error analysis has been discussed in section 3, section 4 is devoted to present some numerical examples, in the last section, we give a conclusion.

CHAPTER 4

ITERATIVE CONTINUOUS COLLOCATION METHOD FOR SOLVING NONLINEAR VOLTERRA INTEGRO-DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN THE SPACE $S_M^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we consider the following Volterra integro-differential equations,

$$x'(t) = f(t) + Q(t, x(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s, x(s), x'(s)) ds, \quad t \in I = [0, T]$$

$$x(t_0) = x_0,$$
(4.1)

where the functions *f*, *Q*, *K* are sufficiently smooth. The existence and the uniqueness of the solution of (4.1) can be found, for example, in [12].

integro-differential equations find its applications in various fields of science and engineering. There are several numerical methods for approximating the solution of integro-differential equations are known and many different basic functions have been used. There are various methods to solve integro-differential equations such as Adomian decomposition method, successive substitutions, Laplace transformation method, Picard's method, etc (Wazwaz (2011)[67]). collocation theory is a relatively new and an emerging tool in applied mathematical research area. It has been applied in a wide range of engineering disciplines; particularly,and fast algorithms for easy implementation. collocation method have been applied for the numerical solution of different kinds of integral equations,

The aim of this chapter is to generalize the iterative continuous collocation method in [55] for construct an iterative continuous approximate solution for equation (4.1). In our method the approximate solution is explicit, direct and obtained by using simple iterative formulas.

In fact the applications of the iterative collocation method in the numerical analysis field possessing some of the well known advantages such as:

- 1. It is accurate,
- 2. It is possible to pick any point in the interval of integration and as well the approximate solutions and their derivatives will be applicable.
- 3. The method does not require discretization of the variables, and it is not affected

by computation Ind off errors and one is not faced with necessity of large computer memory and time.

The outlines of this chapter is as follows. In section 2, an iterative collocation method has been used to construct an approximate solution for (4.1) in the continuous spline polynomials space $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$, the convergence analysis has been given in section 3. Some numerical illustrations are provided in section 4.

4.2 **Description of the method**

Let Π_N be a uniform partition of the interval I = [0, T] with grid points $t_n = nh$, n = 0, ..., N - 1, where the stepsize is given by $h = \frac{T}{N}$. Let the collocation parameters be $0 < c_1 < ... < c_m < 1$ and the collocation points

$$\Gamma_{N,m} = \{t_{n,j} = t_n + c_j h, j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1\}.$$

Define the subintervals $\sigma_n = [t_n, t_{n+1}]$, and $\sigma_{N-1} = [t_{N-1}, t_N]$.

Moreover, denote by π_m the set of all real polynomials of degree not exceeding *m*. We consider polynomial spline approximations u(t) of the exact solution x(t) in the spline space

$$S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C(\mathbf{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_m, n = 0, ..., N - 1, \}.$$

This is the space of piecewise polynomials of degree at most m. Its dimension is Nm + 1, the same as the number of collocation points.

We seek $u \in S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$ satisfies the collocation equation

$$u'(t) = f(t) + Q(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s, u(s), u'(s)) ds, \quad t \in \Gamma_{N,m},$$

$$u(t_0) = f(0).$$
 (4.2)

In what follows, we consider two equivalent reformulations of problem (4.2) by using the function $w(t) = u'(t) \in S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(\Pi_N)$. Since $w_n \in \pi_{m-1}$, it holds for $\mu \in (0, 1]$,

$$w_n(t_n + \mu h) = \sum_{\nu=1}^m L_\nu(s) w_n(t_{n,\nu}), \qquad (4.3)$$

$$u_n(t_n + \mu h) = f(0) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^m \left(\int_0^1 L_v(\tau) d\tau \right) w_p(t_{p,v}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m \left(\int_0^\mu L_v(\tau) d\tau \right) w_n(t_{n,v}), \quad (4.4)$$

where $L_j(\mu) = \prod_{l\neq j}^m \frac{\mu - c_l}{c_j - c_l}$ are the Lagrange polynomials associate with the parameters $c_j, j = 1, ..., m$. By using (4.4), the collocation equation (4.2) may be rewritten as the following nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation with respect to w.

$$w_n(t) = f(t) + Q\left(t, f(0) + \int_0^t w(r)dr\right) + \int_0^t K\left(t, s, f(0) + \int_0^s w(r)dr, w(s)\right)ds$$

$$0 \le \tau \le s \le t = t_{n,j}, j = 1, ..., m.$$

Hence, for each j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1, $w_n(t_{n,j})$ satisfies the following nonlinear system,

$$w_{n}(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + Q\left(t_{n,j}, f(0) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} w_{p}(t_{p} + \tau h) d\tau + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} w_{n}(t_{n} + \tau h) d\tau\right) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} K(t_{p,j}, t_{p} + \mu h, u_{p}(t_{p} + \mu h), w_{p}(t_{p} + \mu h)) d\mu + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, u_{n}(t_{n} + \mu h), w_{n}(t_{n} + \mu h)) d\mu,$$

$$(4.5)$$

Since the above system is nonlinear, we will use an iterative collocation solution $u^q \in S_m^0(I, \Pi_N), q \in \mathbb{N}$, to approximate the exact solution of (4.1) such that

$$w_n^q(t_n + \mu h) = \sum_{\nu=1}^m L_\nu(\mu) w_n^q(t_{n,\nu}), \qquad (4.6)$$

and

$$u_n^q(t_n + \mu h) = f(0) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{\nu=0}^m \left(\int_0^1 L_\nu(\tau) d\tau \right) w_p^q(t_{p,\nu}) + h \sum_{\nu=0}^m \left(\int_0^\mu L_\nu(\tau) d\tau \right) w_n^q(t_{n,\nu}), \quad (4.7)$$

where the coefficients $w_n^q(t_{n,j})$ are given by the following formula:

$$w_{n}^{q}(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + Q\left(t_{n,j}, f(0) + h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1}\int_{0}^{1} w_{p}^{q}(t_{p} + \tau h)d\tau + h\int_{0}^{c_{j}} w_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n} + \tau h)d\tau\right) + h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1}\int_{0}^{1} K\left(t_{p,j}, t_{p} + \mu h, u_{p}^{q}(t_{p} + \mu h), w_{p}^{q}(t_{p} + \mu h)\right)d\mu + h\int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, H_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n} + \mu h), w_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n} + \mu h)\right)d\mu,$$

$$(4.8)$$

where,

$$H_n^q(t_n + \mu h) = f(0) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=0}^m \left(\int_0^1 L_v(\tau) d\tau \right) w_p^q(t_{p,v}) + h \sum_{v=0}^m \left(\int_0^\mu L_v(\tau) d\tau \right) w_n^{q-1}(t_{n,v}).$$

Such that the initial values $w_n^0(t_{n,j})$ belong in a bounded interval *J*.

Remark 4.2.1 *The above formula is explicit and the approximate solution u^q is given without needed to solve any algebraic system.*

In the next section, we will prove the convergence of the approximate solution u^q to the exact solution x of (4.1), moreover, the order of convergence is m for all $q \ge m$.

4.3 Convergence analysis

In this section, we assume that the functions *Q* and *K* satisfy the following Lipschitz conditions: there exist $A_i \ge 0$ i = 0, 1, 2 such that

$$\begin{aligned} &|Q(t,x_1) - Q(t,x_2)| \le A_0 |x_1 - x_2|, \\ &|K(t,s,x_1,y_1) - K(t,s,x_2,y_2)| \le A_1 |x_1 - x_2| + A_2 |y_1 - y_2|. \end{aligned}$$

The following lemma will be used in this section. The following result gives the existence and the uniqueness of a solution for the nonlinear system (4.5).

Lemma 4.3.1 For sufficiently small h, the nonlinear system (4.5) has a unique solution $u \in S_m^0(I, \Pi_N)$.

Proof. We will use the induction combined with the Banach fixed point theorem.

(i) On the interval $\sigma_0 = [t_0, t_1]$, the nonlinear system (4.5) becomes

$$w_{0}(t_{0,j}) = f(t_{0,j}) + Q\left(t_{0,j}, u_{0} + h \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left(\int_{0}^{c_{j}} L_{\nu}(\tau) d\tau\right) w_{0}(t_{0,\nu})\right) + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{0,j}, t_{0} + \mu h, u_{0} + h \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} \left(\int_{0}^{\mu} L_{\nu}(\tau) d\tau\right) w_{0}(t_{0,\nu}), \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} L_{\nu}(\mu) w_{0}(t_{0,\nu})\right) d\mu.$$

$$(4.9)$$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi: \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, ..., x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), ..., \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\Psi_{j}(x) = f(t_{0,j}) + Q\left(t_{0,j}, u_{0} + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} \left(\int_{0}^{c_{j}} L_{v}(\tau) d\tau\right) x_{v}\right) + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{0,j}, t_{0} + \mu h, u_{0} + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} \left(\int_{0}^{\mu} L_{v}(\tau) d\tau\right) x_{v}, \sum_{v=1}^{m} L_{v}(\mu) x_{v}\right) d\mu.$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$\|\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)\|_{\infty} \le hmb \left(A_0 + A_1 + A_2\right) \|x - y\|_{\infty},$$

where $b = \max\{|L_v(\mu)|, \mu \in [0, 1], v = 1, ..., m\}$.

Since $hmb(A_0 + A_1 + A_2) < 1$ for sufficiently small *h*, then by Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (4.9) has a unique solution on the interval σ_0 .

(ii) Suppose that *u* exists and unique on the intervals σ_i, *i* = 0, ..., *n* − 1 for *n* ≥ 1 and we show that *u* exists and unique on the interval σ_n.
On the interval σ_n, the nonlinear system (4.5) becomes

$$\begin{split} w_n(t_{n,j}) = & F(t_{n,j}) + Q\left(t_{n,j}, G(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m \left(\int_0^c L_v(\tau) d\tau\right) w_n(t_{n,v})\right) \\ &+ h \int_0^{c_j} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_n + \mu h, R(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^m \left(\int_0^\mu L_v(\tau) d\tau\right) w_n(t_{n,v}), \sum_{v=1}^m L_v(\mu) w_n(t_{n,v})\right) d\mu, \end{split}$$

where,

$$F(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 K(t_{p,j}, t_p + \mu h, u_p(t_p + \mu h), w_p(t_p + \mu h)) d\mu.$$

$$G(t_{n,j}) = f(0) + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^m \left(\int_0^1 L_v(\tau) d\tau \right) w_p(t_{p,v}).$$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi: \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, ..., x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), ..., \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{j}(x) &= F(t_{n,j}) + Q \left(t_{n,j}, G(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} \left(\int_{0}^{c_{j}} L_{v}(\tau) d\tau \right) x_{v} \right) \\ &+ h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K \left(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, G(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} \left(\int_{0}^{\mu} L_{v}(\tau) d\tau \right) x_{v}, \sum_{v=1}^{m} L_{v}(\mu) x_{v} \right) d\mu, \end{split}$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$\|\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)\|_{\infty} \le hmb(A_0 + A_1 + A_2) \|x - y\|_{\infty},$$

Since $hmb(A_0 + A_1 + A_2) < 1$ for sufficiently small *h*, then by Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (4.5) has a unique solution *u* on σ_n .

• The following result gives the convergence of the approximate solution u to the exact solution x.

Theorem 4.3.1 Let f, Q, K be m times continuously differentiable on their respective domains. Then for sufficiently small h, the collocation solution u converges to the exact solution x, and the resulting error function e := x - u satisfies:

$$||e^{v}||_{L^{\infty}(I)} \leq Ch^{m},$$

for v = 0, 1, where C is a finite constant independent of h.

Proof. Let y = x'. It holds that

$$y_n(t_n + \mu h) = \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(\mu) y_n(t_{n,j}) + \epsilon_n(\mu), \ \epsilon_n(\mu) = h^m \frac{y^m(\zeta_n(\mu))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^m (\mu - c_j).$$
(4.10)

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} x_n(t_n + \mu h) &= u_0 + h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 \left(\sum_{v=1}^m L_v(\tau) y_p(t_{p,v}) + h^m \frac{y^m(\zeta_p(\tau))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^m (\tau - c_j) d\tau \right) \\ &+ h \int_0^\mu \left(\sum_{v=1}^m L_v(\tau) y_n(t_{n,v}) + h^m \frac{y^m(\zeta_n(\tau))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^m (\tau - c_j) \right) d\tau, \end{aligned}$$
(4.11)

It follows that the errors $\xi = y - w$ and e = x - u have the following representation

$$\xi_n(t_n + \mu h) = \sum_{j=1}^m L_j(\mu)\xi_n(t_{n,j}) + \epsilon_n(\mu), \ \epsilon_n(\mu) = h^m \frac{y^m(\zeta_n(\mu))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^m (\mu - c_j), \tag{4.12}$$

$$e(t_{n} + \mu h) = h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\sum_{v=1}^{m} L_{v}(\tau) \xi_{p}(t_{p,v}) + h^{m} \frac{y^{m}(\zeta_{p}(\tau))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\tau - c_{j}) \right) d\tau$$

$$+ h \int_{0}^{\mu} \left(\sum_{v=1}^{m} L_{v}(\tau) \xi_{n}(t_{n,v}) + h^{m} \frac{y^{m}(\zeta_{n}(\tau))}{m!} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\tau - c_{j}) \right) d\tau,$$
(4.13)

where $\xi_n = \xi|_{\sigma_n}$ and $e_n = e|_{\sigma_n}$.

On the other hand, from (4.5), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi_{n}(t_{n,j})| \leq hAb \sum_{p=0}^{n} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{p}(t_{p,v})| \\ &+ hAb \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \left(h \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{i}(t_{i,v})| + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{p}(t_{p,v})| + \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{p}(t_{p,v})| \right) \\ &+ hAb \left(h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{p}(t_{p,v})| + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{n}(t_{n,v})| + \sum_{v=1}^{m} |\xi_{n}(t_{n,v})| \right) + \alpha h^{m}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.14)$$

where $A = \max\{A_i, i = 0, 1, 2\}$ and α is a positive number. We consider the sequence $\xi_n = \max\{|\xi_n(t_{n,v})| \text{ for } n = 0, ..., N - 1.$ Then, from (4.14), ξ_n satisfies for n = 0, ..., N - 1,

$$\xi_{n} \leq Ahbm \sum_{p=0}^{n} \xi_{p} + hAbm \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \left(h \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \xi_{i} + h \xi_{p} + \xi_{p} \right)$$
$$+ hAbm \left(h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \xi_{p} + h \xi_{n} + \xi_{n} \right) + \alpha h^{m}$$
$$\leq h \underbrace{Abm(2+3T)}_{\alpha_{1}} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \xi_{p} + h \underbrace{Abm(T+2)}_{\alpha_{2}} \xi_{n} + \alpha h^{m}.$$
(4.15)

Hence, for $\overline{h} < \frac{1}{\alpha_2}$, we have for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$

$$\xi_n \leq \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2} h^m + \frac{\alpha_1}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \xi_p.$$

Then, by Lemma 1.7.1, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\xi_n \leq \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2} h^m \exp\left(\frac{T\alpha_1}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2}\right).$$

Therefore, by using (4.12), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|e\| &\leq mb \max\{\xi_n, n = 0, ..., N - 1\} + \beta h^m \\ &\leq mb \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2} \exp\left(\frac{T\alpha_1}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2}\right) h^m + \beta h^m \\ &\leq \underbrace{\left(mb \frac{\alpha}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2} \exp\left(\frac{T\alpha_1}{1 - \overline{h}\alpha_2}\right) + \beta\right)}_{\alpha_3} h^m, \end{aligned}$$

where β is a positive number.

Therefore, by using (4.13), we obtain

$$||e|| \leq hmb \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \xi_p + hmb\xi_n + \gamma h^m \leq 2mbT\alpha_3 h^m + \gamma h^m,$$

where γ is a positive number,

Thus, the proof is completed by taking $C = \max(\alpha_3, 2mbT\alpha_3 + \gamma)$.

The following result gives the convergence of the iterative solution u^q to the exacts solution *x*.

Theorem 4.3.2 Consider the iterative collocation solution u^q defined by (4.6), (4.7) and (4.8), then for any initial conditions $(u')^0(t_{n,j}) = w^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (*J* is a bounded interval), the iterative collocation solution u^q converges to the exact solution *x*. Moreover, the following error estimates hold

$$\|(u^{q})^{(v)} - x^{(v)}\| \le Ch^{m} + C'\beta^{q}h^{q}$$

for v = 0, 1, where C, C', β are finite constants independent of h and q.

Proof. We define the error ξ^q , e^q , ε^q and ζ^q by $\xi^q(t) = w^q(t) - y(t)$, $e^q(t) = u^q(t) - x(t)$, $\varepsilon^q = w^q(t) - w(t)$, $\zeta^q = u^q(t) - u(t)$ where *u* is defined by lemma 4.3.1. We have, from (4.5) and (4.8), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{aligned} |\varepsilon_{n}^{q}(t_{n,j})| \leq hAb \left(\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{p}^{q}(t_{p,v})| + \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n,v})| \right) \\ + hAb \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \left(h \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{i}^{q}(t_{i,v})| + h \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{p}^{q}(t_{p,v})| + \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{p}^{q}(t_{p,v})| \right) \\ + hAb \left(h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{p}^{q}(t_{p,v})| + h \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n,v})| + \sum_{v=0}^{m} |\varepsilon_{n}^{q-1}(t_{n,v})| \right), \end{aligned}$$
(4.16)

Now, for each fixed $q \ge 1$, we consider the sequence $\varepsilon_n^q = \max\{|\varepsilon_n^q(t_{n,v})| v = 1....m\}$. It follows, from (4.16), that for n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\varepsilon_{n}^{q} \leq hAbm\left(\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_{p}^{q} + \varepsilon_{n}^{q-1}\right) + hAbm\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \left(h\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \varepsilon_{i}^{q} + h\varepsilon_{p}^{q} + \varepsilon_{p}^{q}\right) + hAbm\left(h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_{p}^{q} + h\varepsilon_{n}^{q-1} + \varepsilon_{n}^{q-1}\right)$$

$$\leq h\underbrace{Abm(2+3T)}_{\alpha_{1}}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_{p}^{q} + h\underbrace{Abm(2+T)}_{\alpha_{2}}\varepsilon_{n}^{q-1},$$

$$(4.17)$$

We consider the sequence $\eta^q = \max{\{\varepsilon_n^q, n = 0, ..., N - 1\}}$ for $q \ge 1$. Then, from (4.17), we obtain

$$\varepsilon_n^q \le \alpha_1 h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_p^q + \alpha_2 h \eta^{q-1}.$$
(4.18)

Hence, by Lemma 1.7.1, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\eta^{q} \leq \underbrace{\alpha_{2} \exp\left(\alpha_{1} T\right)}_{\beta} h \eta^{q-1} \leq \beta^{2} h^{2} \eta^{q-2} \leq \dots \leq \beta^{q} h^{q} \eta^{0}.$$

Since, $w^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (bounded interval) and w is bounded by Lemma 4.3.1, then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\eta^0 < \delta$, which implies that, for all $q \ge 1$

$$\eta^q \leq \delta \beta^q h^q.$$

Therefore, by using (4.3) and (4.6), we obtain

$$\|\varepsilon^q\| \le mb\eta^q \le \underbrace{mb\delta}_d \beta^q h^q,$$

Hence, by Theorem (4.3.1), we deduce that

$$\|\xi^q\| \le \|\varepsilon^q\| + \|w - y\| \le d\beta^q h^q + Ch^m.$$

On the other hand, from (4.4) and (4.7), we have

$$\|\varsigma^q\| \le 2Tmb\|\varepsilon^q\| \le 2Tmbd\beta^q h^q.$$

Finally, by using Theorem (4.3.1), we deduce that

$$||e^{q}|| \leq ||\varsigma^{q}|| + ||u - x|| \leq \underbrace{2Tmbd}_{d'} \beta^{q} h^{q} + Ch^{m}.$$

Thus, the proof is completed by taking $C' = \max(d, d')$.

4.4 Numerical examples

In order to test the applicability of the presented method, we consider the following examples with T = 1. These examples have been solved with various values of N, m and q = m. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1}, i = 1, ..., m$. In each example, we calculate the error between x and the iterative collocation solution u^m .

The absolute errors at the particular points are given to compare our solutions with the solutions obtained by [61, 64].

The results in these examples confirm the theoretical results; moreover, the results obtained by the present method is very superior to that obtained by the methods in [61, 64].

Example 4.4.1 Consider the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t \cos(t + s + x(s) + x'(s)) + \frac{1}{1 + x^2(s)} ds, \ t \in [0, 1].$$

with *f* is chosen so that the exact solution is x(t) = 2t + 5. The absolute errors for $(N, m) \in \{(2,3), (4,3), (4,4), (6,4)\}$ at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are presented in Table 4.1. From the Table 4.1, we note that the absolute error reduces as N or m increases.

t	<i>N</i> = 2	N = 4	N = 4	<i>N</i> = 6
	m = 3	m = 3	m = 4	m = 4
0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	2.03 E -4	1.48 E –5	4.40 E −7	4.99 E −8
0.2	2.37 Е –4	1.73 E –5	1.36 Е -6	2.90 E -7
0.3	2.23 E –4	4.94 E –7	1.43 Е -6	2.27 E –7
0.4	2.88 E -4	7.86 E –6	1.21 Е -6	9.56 E –7
0.5	5.53 E -4	6.69 E –5	8.55 E –6	9.58 E –7
0.6	1.07 E –3	6.17 E –5	7.95 E –6	8.30 E -7
0.7	1.12 Е –3	5.43 E –5	7.46 Е –6	7.60 E -7
0.8	1.14 Е –3	6.04 E -5	7.24 Е –6	6.97 E -7
0.9	1.52 E –3	6.90 E -5	6.36 E -6	3.84 E –7
1	2.71 E −3	1.38 E –4	6.64 E -7	4.33 E −7

Table 4.1: Absolute errors for Example 4.4.1

Example 4.4.2 Consider the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t \frac{\cos(t)}{1 + t + (x'(s))^2} + \frac{t\sin(s)}{2 + x^2(s)} ds, \ t \in [0, 1].$$

with f is chosen so that the exact solution is $x(t) = 3\cos(t) + 1$. The absolute errors for $(N, m) \in \{(2, 3), (4, 3), (4, 4), (6, 4)\}$ at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are presented in Table 4.2. From the Table 4.2, we note that the absolute error reduces as N or m increases.

t	<i>N</i> = 2	N = 4	N = 4	N = 6
	m = 3	m = 3	m = 4	m = 4
0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	6.87 Е –4	5.08 E -5	1.33 E -7	1.13 E -8
0.2	8.11 Е -4	5.17 E –5	1.36 E –7	4.96 E −8
0.3	8.13 E –4	8.67 E –5	5.64 E -7	6.11 E -8
0.4	8.41 E –4	9.49 E –5	6.16 E -7	1.38 E –7
0.5	7.58 E −4	9.41 E –5	7.46 E -7	1.61 E -7
0.6	1.28 E –3	1.37 E –4	1.43 Е -6	2.44 E –7
0.7	1.38 E –3	1.40 Е –4	1.46 Е -6	3.58 E –7
0.8	1.39 E –3	1.65 Е –4	2.38 E –6	3.69 E –7
0.9	1.41 E –3	1.71 Е –4	2.47 Е -6	5.06 E -7
1	1.35 E –3	1.69 Е –4	2.61 E -6	5.13 E -7

Table 4.2: Absolute errors for Example 4.4.2

Example 4.4.3 Consider the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t (ts \arctan(s + x(s) + x'(s)) + \cos(t - s + x(s)))ds, \ t \in [0, 1].$$

with *f* is chosen so that the exact solution is x(t) = 2t + 1. The absolute errors for $(N, m) \in \{(2, 2), (2, 3), (4, 3), (4, 4)\}$ at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are presented in Table 4.2. From the Table 4.3, we note that the absolute error reduces as N or m increases.

t	<i>N</i> = 2	<i>N</i> = 2	<i>N</i> = 4	<i>N</i> = 4
	m = 2	m = 3	m = 3	m = 4
0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	1.26 E –4	5.86 E –7	1.40 E –8	3.03 E –9
0.2	2.47 Е –4	1.58 E –6	5.66 E -8	8.11 E –9
0.3	3.61 E –4	3.42 E –6	1.00 E -7	1.49 E –9
0.4	4.70 E −4	6.53 E –6	1.13 Е -7	6.14 E –9
0.5	5.73 E –4	1.13 E –5	1.47 Е –7	2.00 E –9
0.6	5.66 E -4	1.13 E –5	1.43 E –7	2.16 E –9
0.7	5.63 E -4	1.11 Е —5	1.41 Е -7	1.01 Е - 8
0.8	5.66 E -4	1.06 E –5	1.31 E –7	4.96 E −10
0.9	5.73 E –4	1.01 E –5	1.26 Е -7	1.76 E –10
1	5.84 E -4	9.46 E –6	1.22 Е -7	2.00 E –9

Table 4.3: Absolute errors for Example 4.4.3

Example 4.4.4 ([61, 64]) Consider the linear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = 1 - \int_0^t x(s) ds, \ t \in [0, 1].$$

with the initial conditions x(0) = 0 and the exact solution x(t) = sin(t). Here, f(t) = 1, g(t) = 0, K(t, s) = -1.

The absolute errors for N = 6, 10 and m = q = 5 at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are displayed in Table 4.4. The numerical results of the absolute error function obtained by the present method are compared in Table 4.4 with the absolute error function of the Taylor method given in [61] and Bessel method [64] for an approximate polynomial solutions of degree 5.

t	Taylor method [61]	Bessel method [64]	Present method	Present method
			N = 6	<i>N</i> = 10
0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	2.00 E –11	2.49 Е –7	1.58 Е –9	1.26 E –10
0.2	2.50 E −9	4.02 E −7	5.45 E –10	9.50 E −11
0.3	4.33 E −8	3.00 E –7	2.71 Е —9	2.61 E −10
0.4	3.24 E –7	2.05 E –7	8.90 E −10	1.08 E –10
0.5	1.54 Е —6	2.83 E –7	5.60 Е –9	2.04 E -10
0.6	5.52 Е —6	3.75 Е –7	7.20 Е —9	4.96 E −12
0.7	1.62 Е —5	1.65 Е –7	1.19 Е –9	4.62 E −10
0.8	4.12 E –5	1.81 Е –7	1.36 E –10	5.00 E -10
0.9	9.38 E –5	1.18 Е -6	1.27 Е –9	1.72 Е –10
1.0	1.95 Е —4	9.66 E –6	7.85 Е –9	9.92 E −10

Table 4.4: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 4. 4.4

4.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we proposed the iterative collocation method for the numerical solution of integro-differential equations(4.1) in the spline space $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$. Our numerical results are compared with exact solutions and existing methods. Error analysis shows the accuracy and effectiveness of the proposed scheme Hence, the present method is approached through the illustrative examples which show the efficiency, validity and applicability.

CHAPTER 5

ITERATIVE COLLOCATION METHOD FOR NONLINEAR VOLTERRA INTEGRO-DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN THE SPACE $S_{M+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N)$

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we consider the following Volterra integro-differential equations,

$$x'(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t K(t, s, x(s)) ds, x(t_0) = x_0, t \in I = [0, T],$$
(5.1)

where the functions *f*, *K* are sufficiently smooth.

There are several numerical methods for approximating the solution of equation (5.1). For example, spectral methods, implicit Runge-Kutta methods, Galerkin methods, collocation methods, and Legendre wavelets series, (cf, e.g. [38, 58, 13, 2, 39, 40], and references therein).

The purpose of this paper is to solve equation (5.1) by the iterative collocation method. in the spline space $S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N)$.

The outlines of this chapter is as follows. In section 2, the spline polynomial has been used to approximate equation (5.1) based on the iterative collocation method, error analysis has been discussed in section 3, section 4 reports some numerical examples , in the last section, we give a conclusion.

5.2 Description of the method

Let Π_N be a uniform partition of the interval I = [0, T] defined by $t_n = nh$, n = 0, ..., N - 1, where the stepsize is given by $\frac{T}{N} = h$. Let the collocation parameters be $0 \le c_1 < ..., < c_m \le 1$ and the collocation points be $t_{n,j} = t_n + c_jh$, j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1. Define the subintervals $\sigma_n = [t_n, t_{n+1}]$, and $\sigma_{N-1} = [t_{N-1}, t_N]$. Moreover, denote by π_{m+1} the set of all real polynomials of degree not exceeding m + 1.

We define the real polynomial spline space of degree m + 1 as follows:

$$S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N) = \{ u \in C^1(\mathbf{I}, \mathbb{R}) : u_n = u/\sigma_n \in \pi_{m+1}, n = 0, ..., N-1 \}.$$

It holds for any $y \in C^{m+2}([0, T])$ that

$$x'(t_n + \mu h) = L_0(v)x'(t_n) + \sum_{v=1}^m L_v(\mu)x'(t_{n,v}) + h^{m+1}R^1_{m+1,n}(\mu).$$
(5.2)

The Peano remainder term and Peano kernel are given by

$$R_{m+1,n}^{1}(\mu) := \int_{0}^{1} K_{m}(s,\tau) x^{(m+1)}(t_{n}+\tau) d\tau, \qquad (5.3)$$

and

$$K_m(\mu,\tau) := \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \left\{ (\mu - \tau)_+^{m-1} - \sum_{\nu=1}^m L_\nu(\mu) (c_\nu - \tau)_+^{m-1} \right\}.$$
(5.4)

Integration of (5.2) leads to

$$x(t_n + \mu h) = x(t_n) + hB_0(\mu)x'(t_n) + h\sum_{\nu=1}^m B_\nu(\mu)x'(t_{n,\nu}) + h^{m+2}R_{m+1,n}(\mu),$$
(5.5)

where

$$R_{m+1,n}(\mu) := \int_{0}^{\mu} R_{m+1,n}^{1}(\tau) d\tau,$$

where $\mu \in [0, 1]$, $B_0(\mu) = \int_o^{\mu} L_0(v) dv$ and $B_j(\mu) = \int_o^{\mu} L_j(v) dv$ with $L_0(v) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{v - c_l}{c_l}$ and $L_j(v) = \frac{v}{c_j} \prod_{l \neq j}^m \frac{v - c_l}{c_j - c_l}$, j = 1, ..., m are the Lagrange polynomials associate with the parameters c_j , j = 1, ..., m.

Inserting (5.5) for the function $s \mapsto K(t, s, x(s))$ into (5.1), we obtain for each j =

1,...,m,,n=0,...,N-1

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t_{n,j}) &= f(t_{n,j}) \\ &+ \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} K \bigg(t_{n,j}, t_p + \mu h, x(t_p) + h B_0(\mu) x'(t_p) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} B_v(\mu) x'(t_{p,v}) + h^{m+2} R_{m+1,p}(\mu) \bigg) d\mu \\ &+ h \int_{0}^{c_j} K \bigg(t_{n,j}, t_n + \mu h, x(t_n) + h B_0(\mu) x'(t_n) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} B_v(\mu) x'(t_{n,v}) + h^{m+2} R_{m+1,n}(\mu) \bigg) d\mu. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.6)$$

It holds for any $u \in S_{m+1}^1(I, \Pi_N)$ that

$$u'_{n}(t_{n} + \mu h) = L_{0}(\mu)u'_{n-1}(t_{n}) + \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} L_{\nu}(\mu)u'_{n}(t_{n,\nu}), \qquad (5.7)$$

and

$$u_n(t_n + \mu h) = u_{n-1}(t_n) + hB_0(\mu)u'_{n-1}(t_n) + h\sum_{\nu=1}^m B_\nu(\mu)u'_n(t_{n,\nu}), \mu \in [0,1].$$
(5.8)

Now, we approximate *x* by $u \in S^1_{m+1}(I, \Pi_N)$ such that $u'(t_{n,j})$ satisfy the following nonlinear system,

$$u'_{n}(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{p} + \mu h, u_{p}(t_{p}) + hB_{0}(\mu)u'_{p}(t_{p}) + h\sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(\mu)u'_{p}(t_{p,v})\right)d\mu$$

$$+ h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, u_{n-1}(t_{n}) + hB_{0}(\mu)u'_{n-1}(t_{n}) + h\sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(\mu)u'_{n}(t_{n,v})\right)d\mu.$$
for $n = 0, ..., N - 1, j = 1, ..., m$ where $u'_{-1}(t_{0}) = x'(0) = f(0)$ and $u_{-1}(t_{0}) = x(0).$

$$(5.9)$$

Since the above system is nonlinear, we will use an iterative collocation solution $u^q \in S^1_{m+1}(I, \Pi_N), q \in \mathbb{N}$, to approximate the solution of (5.1) such that

$$(u_n^q)'(t_n + \mu h) = L_0(\mu)(u_{n-1}^q)'(t_n) + \sum_{v=1}^m L_v(\mu)(u_n^q)'(t_{n,v}), \mu \in [0,1],$$
(5.10)

and

$$u_n^q(t_n + \mu h) = u_{n-1}^q(t_n) + hB_0(\mu)(u_{n-1}^q)'(t_n) + h\sum_{v=1}^m B_v(\mu)(u_n^q)'(t_{n,v}), \mu \in [0, 1],$$
(5.11)

where the coefficients $(u_n^q)'(t_{n,j})$ are given by the following formula:

$$(u_{n}^{q})'(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{p} + \mu h, u_{p}^{q}(t_{p}) + hB_{0}(v)(u_{p}^{q})'(t_{p}) + h\sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(v)(u_{p}^{q})'(t_{p,v})\right) d\mu + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, u_{n-1}^{q}(t_{n}) + hB_{0}(v)(u_{n-1}^{q})'(t_{n}) + h\sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(v)(u_{n}^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})\right) d\mu.$$
(5.12)

Such that $(u_{-1}^q)'(t_0) = f(0)$ and $u_{-1}^q(t_0) = x_0$ for all $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and the initial values $(u_n^0)'(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (*J* is a bounded interval).

The above formula is explicit and the approximate solution u^q is given without needed to solve any algebraic system.

In the next section, we will prove the convergence of the approximate solution u^q to the exact solution x of (5.1), moreover, the order of convergence is m for all $q \ge m$.

5.3 Convergence analysis

In this section, we assume that the functions *K* satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to the third variable: there exists $\overline{K} \ge 0$ such that

 $|K(t, s, x_1) - K(t, s, x_2| \le \overline{K}|x_1 - x_2|$. The following three lemmas will be used in this section. The following result gives the existence and the uniqueness of a solution for the nonlinear system (5.8).

Lemma 5.3.1 For sufficiently small h, the nonlinear system (5.8) defines a unique solution $u \in S^1_{m+1}(I, \Pi_N)$ which is given by (5.9).

Proof. We will use the induction combined with the Banach fixed point theorem.

(i) On the interval $\sigma_0 = [t_0, t_1]$, the nonlinear system (5.9) becomes

$$u'_{n}(t_{0,j}) = f(t_{0,j}) + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{0,j}, t_{0} + \mu h, x_{0} + hf(0)B_{0}(\mu) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(\mu)u'_{0}(t_{0,v})\right) d\mu.$$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi : \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, ..., x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), ..., \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\Psi_{j}(x) = f(t_{0,j}) + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{0,j}, t_{0} + \mu h, x_{0} + hf(0)B_{0}(\mu) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(\mu)x_{v}\right) d\mu.$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$\|\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)\|_{\infty} \le h^2 m b \overline{K} \|x - y\|_{\infty},$$

where $b = \max\{|B_v(\mu)|, \mu \in I, v = 0, ..., m\}$. Since $h^2 m b \overline{K} < 1$ for sufficiently small h, then by Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (5.9) has a unique solution $u'(t_{0,j}), j = 1, ..., m$. Hence, the equation (5.8) defines a unique solution u_0 on σ_0 .

(ii) Suppose that u_p exists and unique on the intervals σ_p, p = 0, ..., n − 1 for n ≥ 1 and we show that u_n exists and unique on the interval σ_n.
 On the interval σ_n, the nonlinear system (5.9) becomes

$$u'_{n}(t_{n,j}) = F(t_{n,j}) + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, G(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(\mu)u'_{n}(t_{n,v})\right) d\mu.$$

Where,

$$F(t_{n,j}) = f(t_{n,j}) + \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{p} + \mu h, u_{p}(t_{p}) + hB_{0}(\mu)u_{p}'(t_{p}) + h\sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{v}(\mu)u_{p}'(t_{p,v})\right)d\mu.$$

$$G(t_{n,j}) = u_{n-1}(t_{n}) + hB_{0}(\mu)u_{n-1}'(t_{n})$$

We consider the operator Ψ defined by:

$$\Psi : \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$$
$$x = (x_1, ..., x_m) \longmapsto \Psi(x) = (\Psi_1(x), ..., \Psi_m(x)),$$

such that for j = 1, ..., m, we have

$$\Psi_{j}(x) = F(t_{n,j}) + h \int_{0}^{c_{j}} K\left(t_{n,j}, t_{n} + \mu h, G(t_{n,j}) + h \sum_{v=1}^{m} B_{m}(\mu) x_{v}\right) d\mu.$$

Hence, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$, we have

$$\|\Psi(x) - \Psi(y)\|_{\infty} \le h^2 m b \overline{K} \|x - y\|_{\infty},$$

Since $h^2 m b \overline{K} < 1$ for sufficiently small *h*, then by Banach fixed point theorem, the nonlinear system (5.9) has a unique solution $u'(t_{n,j})$, j = 1, ..., m.

Hence, the equation (5.8) defines a unique solution u_n on σ_n .

■ The following result gives the convergence of the approximate solution *u* to the exact solution *x*.

Theorem 5.3.1 Let f, K be m + 2 times continuously differentiable on their respective domains. If $-1 < R(\infty) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{1-c_l}{c_l} < 1$, then, for sufficiently small h, the collocation solution u converges to the exact solution x, and the resulting errors functions $e^{(v)} := x^{(v)} - u^{(v)}$ for v = 0, 1 satisfies:

$$||e^{(v)}||_{L^{\infty}(I)} \leq Ch^{m+1},$$

for v = 0, 1 and C is a finite constant independent of h.

Proof. We have, from (5.9) and (5.6), the error e' which is defined on σ_n , by $e'(t) = e'_n(t) = x'(t) - u'_n(t)$ for $n \in \{0, 1, ..., N - 1\}$ satisfies for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{aligned} |e'_{n}(t_{n,j})| \leq h\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} |e_{p}(t_{p})| + h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} |e'_{p}(t_{p})| + h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e'_{p}(t_{p,v})| \\ + h\overline{K}|e_{n-1}(t_{n})| + h^{2}b\overline{K}|e'_{n-1}(t_{n})| + h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e'_{n}(t_{n,v})| + \alpha h^{m+2} \\ \leq 2\overline{K}h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e_{p}|| + 2b\overline{K}h^{2} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e'_{p}|| + b\overline{K}h^{2} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e'_{p}(t_{p,v})| \\ + b\overline{K}h^{2} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |e'_{n}(t_{n,v})| + \alpha h^{m+2}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.13)

where α is a positive number.

Therefore, by using (5.5) and (5.8), we obtain for each p = 0, ..., N - 1

$$||e_p|| \le bh \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} ||e'_i|| + bh \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{v=1}^m |e'_i(t_{i,v})| + \alpha Th^{m+1}.$$
(5.14)

Inserting (5.14) into (5.13), we obtain for each j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$|e'_{n}(t_{n,j})| \leq 2\overline{K}b(T+h)h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e'_{p}|| + \overline{K}b(2T+h)h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1}\sum_{v=1}^{m} |e'_{p}(t_{p,v})| + b\overline{K}h^{2}\sum_{v=1}^{m} |e'_{n}(t_{n,v})| + \overline{\alpha}h^{m+1}.$$
(5.15)

We consider the sequence $\varepsilon_n = \sum_{v=1}^m |e'_n(t_{n,v})|$ for n = 0, ..., N - 1. Then, from (5.15), ε_n satisfies for n = 0, ..., N - 1,

$$\varepsilon_n \le 2m\overline{K}b(T+h)h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|e_p'\| + \overline{K}bm(2T+h)h\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_p + h^2mb\overline{K}\varepsilon_n + \overline{\alpha}mh^{m+1}.$$
(5.16)
Hence, for
$$\overline{h} < \frac{1}{\sqrt{mb\overline{K}}}$$
, we have for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$
$$\varepsilon_n \leq \underbrace{\frac{2m\overline{K}b(T+\overline{h})}{1-\overline{h}^2 mb\overline{K}}}_{\alpha_1} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e_p'|| + \underbrace{\overline{K}bm(2T+\overline{h})}_{\alpha_2} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \varepsilon_p + \underbrace{\overline{\alpha}m}_{1-mb\overline{K}\overline{h}} h^{m+1}.$$

Then, by Lemma 1.7.3, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\varepsilon_n \leq \underbrace{\alpha_1 \exp(T\alpha_2)}_{\alpha_4} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e'_p|| + \underbrace{\alpha_3 \exp(T\alpha_2)}_{\alpha_5} h^{m+1}.$$

Therefore, by using (5.2) and (5.7), we obtain

$$||e'_{n}|| \leq |R(\infty)|||e'_{n-1}|| + \rho \varepsilon_{n} + \beta h^{m+1}$$

$$\leq |R(\infty)|||e'_{n-1}|| + \rho \alpha_{4} h \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||e'_{p}|| + (\rho \alpha_{5} + \beta) h^{m+1},$$

where $\rho = \max\{|L_{j}(t)|, t \in [0, 1], j = 1, ..., m\}$ and $e'_{-1} = 0$. Hence by Lemma 1.7.4, we obtain for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} \|e_{n}'\| &\leq \frac{\|e_{0}'\|}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [(R_{2} - 1)R_{2}^{n} + (1 - R_{1})R_{1}^{n}] + \frac{\alpha_{7}h^{m+1}}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [R_{2}^{n} - R_{1}^{n}] \\ &\leq \frac{\|e_{0}'\|}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [(R_{2} - 1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{\alpha_{7}h^{m+1}}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}] \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [(R_{2} - 1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}]\right) \alpha_{7}h^{m+1}, \end{split}$$
(5.17)

where R_1 and R_2 are defined by (1.42) such that $A = |R(\infty)|, B = \alpha_6 h, K = \alpha_7 h^{m+1}$. Since, $\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \right) = \frac{1 + \exp\left(\frac{T\alpha_6}{1 - |R(\infty)|}\right)}{1 - |R(\infty)|} < +\infty$. Then, there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$.

$$\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \le \gamma.$$

Thus, $||e'(t)|| \leq \gamma \alpha_7 h^{m+1}$, which implies, by using (5.5) and (5.8), that

$$\begin{aligned} ||e_{n}|| &\leq ||e_{n-1}|| + hb||e'_{n-1}|| + hbm||e'_{n}|| + \alpha h^{m+2} \\ &\leq ||e_{n-1}|| + \underbrace{(b\gamma\alpha_{7} + bm\gamma\alpha_{7} + \alpha)}_{\lambda} h^{m+2} \\ &\leq ||e_{n-2}|| + 2\lambda h^{m+2} \leq \dots \leq ||e_{0}|| + n\lambda h^{m+2} \\ &\leq \underbrace{||e_{-1}||}_{=0} + \lambda h^{m+2} + T\lambda h^{m+1} \\ &\leq 2\lambda T h^{m+1}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.18)

Thus, the proof is completed by taking $C = \max(2\lambda T, \gamma \alpha_7)$.

The following result gives the convergence of the iterative solution u^q to the exact solution *x*.

Theorem 5.3.2 Consider the iterative collocation solution $u^q, q \ge 1$ defined by (5.11), if $-1 < R(\infty) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{1-c_l}{c_l} < 1$, then for any initial condition $(u')^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$, the iterative collocation solution $u^q, q \ge 1$ converges to the exact solution x for sufficiently small h. Moreover, the following errors estimates hold

$$||u^{q} - x|| \le \gamma_{1}\beta^{q}h^{2q} + \gamma_{2}\beta^{q}h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_{2}h^{m+1},$$

and

$$||(u^q)' - x'|| \le \beta_1 h^{2q} + \beta_2 h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_2 h^{m+1}.$$

where β , β_1 , β_2 , γ_1 , γ_2 are finite constants independent of h and q.

Proof. We define the errors e^q and ξ^q by $e^q(t) = e_n^q(t) = u_n^q(t) - x(t)$ and $\xi^q = \xi_n^q = u_n^q(t) - u_n(t)$ on σ_n , n = 0, ..., N - 1. We have, from (5.9) and (5.12), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{split} |(\xi_{n}^{q})'(t_{n,j})| &\leq h\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_{p}^{q}|| + h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h^{2}bm\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h\overline{K}||\xi_{n-1}^{q}|| \\ &+ h^{2}b\overline{K}||(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'|| + h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |(\xi_{n}^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})| \\ &\leq 2h\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_{p}^{q}|| + 2h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h^{2}bm\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| \\ &+ h^{2}b\overline{K} \sum_{v=1}^{m} |(\xi_{n}^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})|. \end{split}$$

$$\leq 2h\overline{K} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_{p}^{q}|| + h^{2}b\overline{K}(2+m) \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h^{2}b\overline{K}m||(\xi_{n}^{q-1})'||. \end{split}$$

We have, from (5.8) and (5.11), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{split} \|\xi_{n}^{q}\| &\leq \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + hb\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + hbm\|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-2}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{n-2}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-2}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{n-2}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + \|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-3}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{n-3}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-2}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + \|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\vdots \\ &\leq \|\xi_{0}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{0}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{1}^{q})'\| + \dots + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + \|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\leq \|\xi_{0}^{q}\| + 2hbm\sum_{p=0}^{n}\|(\xi_{i}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\underbrace{\xi_{0}^{q}}_{-1}\| + hb\|\underbrace{\xi_{-1}^{q}}_{-1}'\| + hbm\|(\xi_{0}^{q})'\| + 2hbm\sum_{p=0}^{n}\|(\xi_{i}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq 3hbm\sum_{i=0}^{n}\||(\xi_{i}^{q})'\|. \end{split}$$

Inserting (5.20) into (5.19), we obtain for each j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} |(\xi_n^q)'(t_{n,j})| &\leq 6hTbm\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_p^q)'|| + h^2b\overline{K}(2+m)\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_p^q)'|| \\ &+ h^2b\overline{K}m||(\xi_n^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})|| \\ &\leq h\underbrace{b\overline{K}(7Tm+2T)}_{c_1}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_p^q)'|| + h^2b\overline{K}m||(\xi_n^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})||, \end{split}$$

which implies, by using (5.7) and (5.10), that

$$\begin{split} \|(\xi_n^q)'\| &\leq |R(\infty)| \|(\xi_{n-1}^q)'\| + \rho m \max\{|(\xi_n^q)'(t_{n,j})|, j = 1, ..., m\} \\ &\leq |R(\infty)| \|(\xi_{n-1}^q)'\| + \rho h c_1 \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|(\xi_p^q)'\| + \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \|(\xi_n^{q-1})'\|. \end{split}$$

Now, let $\eta^q = \max\{|(\xi_n^q)'||, n = 0, ..., N - 1\}$, it follows that, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\|(\xi_n^q)'\| \le |R(\infty)| \|(\xi_{n-1}^q)'\| + \rho h c_1 \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|(\xi_p^q)'\| + \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1}.$$

Hence by Lemma 1.7.4, we obtain for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} \|(\xi_{n}')^{q}\| &\leq \frac{\|(\xi')_{0}^{q}\|}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [(R_{2}-1)R_{2}^{n}+(1-R_{1})R_{1}^{n}] + \frac{\rho h^{2}b\overline{K}m\eta^{q-1}}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [R_{2}^{n}-R_{1}^{n}] \\ &\leq \frac{\|(\xi_{0}')^{q}\|}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [(R_{2}-1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}+1] + \frac{\rho h^{2}b\overline{K}m\eta^{q-1}}{R_{2}-R_{1}} R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{R_{2}-R_{1}} [(R_{2}-1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}+1] + \frac{1}{R_{2}-R_{1}} R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}\right) \rho h^{2}b\overline{K}m\eta^{q-1}, \end{split}$$
(5.21)

where R_1 and R_2 are defined by (1.42) such that $A = |R(\infty)|, B = \rho h c_1, K = \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1}$. Since, $\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} \right) = \frac{1 + \exp\left(\frac{T\rho c_1}{1 - |R(\infty)|}\right)}{1 - |R(\infty)|} < +\infty$. Then, there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$.

$$\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \le \gamma.$$

It follows, from (5.21), that for all n = 0, ..., N - 1.

$$\|(\xi'_n)^q\| \le \gamma \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1},$$

which implies that, for all $q \ge 1$,

$$\eta^{q} \leq \gamma \rho h^{2} b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1} \leq \dots \leq (\underbrace{\gamma \rho b \overline{K} m}_{\beta})^{q} h^{2q} \eta^{0}.$$
(5.22)

Since, $(u_n^0)'(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (bounded interval), then there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that $|(u_n^0)'(t_{n,j})| \le \alpha$, which implies from (5.10) that, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} \|(u_{n}^{0})'\| &\leq |R(\infty)| \|(u_{n-1}^{0})'\| + \rho m\alpha \\ &\leq (|R(\infty)|)^{2} \|(u_{n-2}^{0})'\| + \rho m\alpha (1 + |R(\infty)|) \\ &\vdots \\ &\leq (|R(\infty)|)^{n} \|(u_{0}^{0})'\| + \rho m\alpha \left(1 + |R(\infty)| + \dots + (|R(\infty)|)^{n-1}\right) \\ &\leq \|(u_{0}^{0})'\| + \frac{\rho m\alpha}{1 - |R(\infty)|} \\ &\leq |R(\infty)| |f(0)| + \rho m\alpha + \frac{\rho m\alpha}{1 - |R(\infty)|} = c_{2}. \end{split}$$

Hence, there exist positive numbers c_3 and c_5 such that,

$$\|\eta^0\| = \|(u^0)' - u'\| \le \|(u^0)' - x'\| + \|x' - u'\| \le \beta_1 + \beta_2 h^{m+1}.$$

Then, from (5.22), we obtain for all $q \ge 1$

$$\|(\xi^{q})'\| \le \beta^{q} h^{2q} \left(\beta_{1} + \beta_{2} h^{m+1}\right).$$
(5.23)

By using Theorem (5.3.1), we deduce that

$$||(e^{q})'|| \le ||(\xi^{q})'|| + ||u' - x'|| \le \beta_1 \beta^q h^{2q} + \beta_2 \beta^q h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_2 h^{m+1}.$$

On the other hand, from (5.11) and (5.8), we have by using (5.23)

$$\begin{split} \|\xi_{n}^{q}\| &\leq \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + hb\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + hbm\|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + hb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-2}^{q}\| + 2hb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\vdots \\ &\leq \|\xi_{0}^{q}\| + nhb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \underbrace{\|\xi_{-1}^{q}\|}_{=0} + hb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| + Tb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \underbrace{(\overline{h} + T)b(m+1)}_{\beta_{3}}\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \beta_{3}\beta^{q}h^{2q}\left(\beta_{1} + \beta_{2}h^{m+1}\right). \end{split}$$

By using Theorem (5.3.1), we deduce that

$$||e^{q}|| \leq ||\xi^{q}|| + ||u' - x'|| \leq \underbrace{\beta_{1}\beta_{3}}_{\gamma_{1}} \beta^{q}h^{2q} + \underbrace{\beta_{2}\beta_{3}}_{\gamma_{2}} \beta^{q}h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_{2}h^{m+1}.$$

Thus, the proof is completed.

The following result gives the convergence of the iterative solution u^q to the exact solution *x*.

Theorem 5.3.3 Consider the iterative collocation solution $u^q, q \ge 1$ defined by (5.11), if $-1 < R(\infty) = (-1)^m \prod_{l=1}^m \frac{1-c_l}{c_l} < 1$, then for any initial condition $(u')^0(t_{n,j}) \in J$, the iterative collocation solution $u^q, q \ge 1$ converges to the exact solution x for sufficiently small h. Moreover, the following errors estimates hold

$$||u^{q} - x|| \le \gamma_{1} \beta^{q} h^{2q} + \gamma_{2} \beta^{q} h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_{2} h^{m+1},$$

and

$$||(u^q)' - x'|| \le \beta_1 h^{2q} + \beta_2 h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_2 h^{m+1}.$$

where β , β_1 , β_2 , γ_1 , γ_2 are finite constants independent of h and q.

Proof. We define the errors e^q and ξ^q by $e^q(t) = e_n^q(t) = u_n^q(t) - x(t)$ and $\xi^q = \xi_n^q = u_n^q(t) - u_n(t)$ on σ_n , n = 0, ..., N - 1.

We have, from (5.9) and (5.12), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{split} |(\xi_{n}^{q})'(t_{n,j})| &\leq h\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_{p}^{q}|| + h^{2}b\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h^{2}bm\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h\overline{K}||\xi_{n-1}^{q}|| \\ &+ h^{2}b\overline{K}||(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'|| + h^{2}b\overline{K}\sum_{v=1}^{m} |(\xi_{n}^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})| \\ &\leq 2h\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_{p}^{q}|| + 2h^{2}b\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h^{2}bm\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| \\ &+ h^{2}b\overline{K}\sum_{v=1}^{m} |(\xi_{n}^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})|. \\ &\leq 2h\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||\xi_{p}^{q}|| + h^{2}b\overline{K}(2+m)\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_{p}^{q})'|| + h^{2}b\overline{K}m||(\xi_{n}^{q-1})'||. \end{split}$$

We have, from (5.8) and (5.11), for all n = 0, ..., N - 1 and j = 1, ..., m

$$\begin{split} \|\xi_{n}^{q}\| &\leq \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + hb\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + hbm\|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-2}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{n-2}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-2}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{n-2}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + \|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-3}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{n-3}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-2}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + \|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\vdots \\ &\leq \|\xi_{0}^{q}\| + hbm\left(\|(\xi_{0}^{q})'\| + 2\|(\xi_{1}^{q})'\| + \dots + 2\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + \|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\|\right) \\ &\leq \|\xi_{0}^{q}\| + 2hbm\sum_{p=0}^{n}\|(\xi_{i}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\underbrace{\xi_{-1}^{q}}_{=0}\| + hb\|\underbrace{(\xi_{-1}^{q})'}_{=0}\| + hbm\||(\xi_{0}^{q})'\| + 2hbm\sum_{p=0}^{n}\|(\xi_{i}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq 3hbm\sum_{i=0}^{n}\|(\xi_{i}^{q})'\|. \end{split}$$

Inserting (5.25) into (5.24), we obtain for each j = 1, ..., m, n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} |(\xi_n^q)'(t_{n,j})| &\leq 6hTbm\overline{K}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_p^q)'|| + h^2b\overline{K}(2+m)\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_p^q)'|| \\ &+ h^2b\overline{K}m||(\xi_n^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})|| \\ &\leq h\underbrace{b\overline{K}(7Tm+2T)}_{c_1}\sum_{p=0}^{n-1} ||(\xi_p^q)'|| + h^2b\overline{K}m||(\xi_n^{q-1})'(t_{n,v})||, \end{split}$$

which implies, by using (5.7) and (5.10), that

$$\begin{split} \|(\xi_n^q)'\| &\leq |R(\infty)| \|(\xi_{n-1}^q)'\| + \rho m \max\{|(\xi_n^q)'(t_{n,j})|, j = 1, ..., m\} \\ &\leq |R(\infty)| \|(\xi_{n-1}^q)'\| + \rho h c_1 \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|(\xi_p^q)'\| + \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \|(\xi_n^{q-1})'\|. \end{split}$$

Now, let $\eta^q = \max\{|(\xi_n^q)'||, n = 0, ..., N - 1\}$, it follows that, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\|(\xi_n^q)'\| \le |R(\infty)|\|(\xi_{n-1}^q)'\| + \rho hc_1 \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} \|(\xi_p^q)'\| + \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1}.$$

Hence by Lemma 1.7.4, we obtain for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} \|(\xi_{n}')^{q}\| &\leq \frac{\|(\xi')_{0}^{q}\|}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [(R_{2} - 1)R_{2}^{n} + (1 - R_{1})R_{1}^{n}] + \frac{\rho h^{2}b\overline{K}m\eta^{q-1}}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [R_{2}^{n} - R_{1}^{n}] \\ &\leq \frac{\|(\xi_{0}')^{q}\|}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [(R_{2} - 1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{\rho h^{2}b\overline{K}m\eta^{q-1}}{R_{2} - R_{1}} R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{R_{2} - R_{1}} [(R_{2} - 1)R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_{2} - R_{1}} R_{2}^{\frac{T}{h}}\right) \rho h^{2}b\overline{K}m\eta^{q-1}, \end{split}$$
(5.26)

where R_1 and R_2 are defined by (1.42) such that $A = |R(\infty)|, B = \rho h c_1, K = \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1}$. Since, $\lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} \right) = \frac{1 + \exp\left(\frac{T\rho c_1}{1 - |R(\infty)|}\right)}{1 - |R(\infty)|} < +\infty$. Then, there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that for all $h \in (0, \overline{h}]$.

$$\frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [(R_2 - 1)R_2^{\frac{T}{h}} + 1] + \frac{1}{R_2 - R_1} [R_2^{\frac{T}{h}}] \le \gamma.$$

It follows, from (5.26), that for all n = 0, ..., N - 1.

$$\|(\xi'_n)^q\| \le \gamma \rho h^2 b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1},$$

which implies that, for all $q \ge 1$,

$$\eta^{q} \leq \gamma \rho h^{2} b \overline{K} m \eta^{q-1} \leq \dots \leq (\underbrace{\gamma \rho b \overline{K} m}_{\beta})^{q} h^{2q} \eta^{0}.$$
(5.27)

Since, $(u_n^0)'(t_{n,j}) \in J$ (bounded interval), then there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that $|(u_n^0)'(t_{n,j})| \le \alpha$, which implies from (5.10) that, for all n = 0, ..., N - 1

$$\begin{split} ||(u_n^0)'|| &\leq |R(\infty)|||(u_{n-1}^0)'|| + \rho m\alpha \\ &\leq (|R(\infty)|)^2 ||(u_{n-2}^0)'|| + \rho m\alpha (1 + |R(\infty)|) \\ &\vdots \\ &\leq (|R(\infty)|)^n ||(u_0^0)'|| + \rho m\alpha (1 + |R(\infty)| + \dots + (|R(\infty)|)^{n-1}) \\ &\leq ||(u_0^0)'|| + \frac{\rho m\alpha}{1 - |R(\infty)|} \\ &\leq |R(\infty)||f(0)| + \rho m\alpha + \frac{\rho m\alpha}{1 - |R(\infty)|} = c_2. \end{split}$$

Hence, there exist positive numbers c_3 and c_5 such that,

$$\|\eta^0\| = \|(u^0)' - u'\| \le \|(u^0)' - x'\| + \|x' - u'\| \le \beta_1 + \beta_2 h^{m+1}.$$

Then, from (5.27), we obtain for all $q \ge 1$

$$\|(\xi^{q})'\| \le \beta^{q} h^{2q} \left(\beta_{1} + \beta_{2} h^{m+1}\right).$$
(5.28)

By using Theorem (5.3.1), we deduce that

$$||(e^{q})'|| \le ||(\xi^{q})'|| + ||u' - x'|| \le \beta_1 \beta^q h^{2q} + \beta_2 \beta^q h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_2 h^{m+1}.$$

On the other hand, from (5.11) and (5.8), we have by using (5.28)

$$\begin{split} \|\xi_{n}^{q}\| &\leq \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + hb\|(\xi_{n-1}^{q})'\| + hbm\|(\xi_{n}^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-1}^{q}\| + hb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{n-2}^{q}\| + 2hb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\vdots \\ &\leq \|\xi_{0}^{q}\| + nhb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \|\xi_{-1}^{q}\| + hb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| + Tb(m+1)\|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \underbrace{(\overline{h} + T)b(m+1)}_{\beta_{3}} \|(\xi^{q})'\| \\ &\leq \beta_{3}\beta^{q}h^{2q} \left(\beta_{1} + \beta_{2}h^{m+1}\right). \end{split}$$

By using Theorem (5.3.1), we deduce that

$$||e^{q}|| \leq ||\xi^{q}|| + ||u' - x'|| \leq \underbrace{\beta_{1}\beta_{3}}_{\gamma_{1}} \beta^{q}h^{2q} + \underbrace{\beta_{2}\beta_{3}}_{\gamma_{2}} \beta^{q}h^{m+1+2q} + \beta_{2}h^{m+1}.$$

Thus, the proof is completed. ■

5.4 Numerical examples

In order to test the applicability of the presented method, we consider the following examples with T = 1. These examples have been solved with various values of N, m and q = m. In each example, we calculate the error between x and the iterative collocation solution u^m .

The absolute errors at the particular points are given to compare our solutions with the solutions obtained by [5, 6, 35, 61, 64].

The results in these examples confirm the theoretical results; moreover, the results obtained by the present method is very superior to that obtained by the methods in [5, 6, 35, 61, 64].

Example 5.4.1 ([5, 6, 35]) Consider the following nonlinear Volterra integral equation

$$x'(t) = 2\sin(t)\cos(t) + 3\int_0^t \cos(t-s)(x(s))^2 ds, \ t \in [0,1],$$

where $x(x) = \cos(x)$ is the exact solution.

The absolute errors for N = m = q = 4 at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are displayed in Table 5.1. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1} + \frac{1}{4}$, i = 1, ..., m and $R(\infty) = -\frac{11}{1989}$.

The numerical results of the present method are considerable accurate in comparison with the numerical results obtained by [5, 6, 35].

Table 5.1: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 5.4.1

t	Method in [35]	Method in [6]	Method in [5]	Present method
	<i>N</i> = 16	N = 32	N = 32	N = 4
0.0	0.0	0.0		0.0
0.1	4.43 E –4	4.49 E −4	1.09 Е –3	9.27 Е –10
0.2	2.22 Е –4	2.42 Е –4	7.25 Е –4	4.19 E –8
0.3	1.22 Е –4	1.62 Е –4	8.42 E –4	1.10 Е - 7
0.4	1.34 Е –4	2.00 E -4	3.56 E –3	1.97 Е –7
0.5	4.29 E –4	3.38 E –4	7.59 Е –3	3.10 E –7
0.6	1.77 Е –4	6.10 E –5	5.29 E –3	4.20 E –7
0.7	4.54 E −4	3.22 E –4	1.94 Е –3	5.33 E –7
0.8	5.75 Е —4	4.35 E –4	2.34 E –3	6.52 E –7
0.9	5.82 Е –4	4.47 Е –4	1.69 Е –4	7.29 Е –7
1.0	9.15 E –4	8.00 E −4		7.84 E –7

Example 5.4.2 ([61, 64]) Consider the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = 1 - \int_0^t x(s)ds, \ t \in [0, 1].$$

with the initial conditions x(0) = 0 and the exact solution x(t) = sin(t). Here, f(t) = 1, g(t) = 0, K(t,s) = -1.

The absolute errors for N = 4, 8 and m = q = 4 at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are displayed in Table 5.2. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1} + \frac{1}{2}, i = 1, ..., m$ and $R(\infty) = \frac{1}{1001}$.

The numerical results of the absolute error function obtained by the present method are compared in Table 5.2 with the absolute error function of the Taylor method given in [61] and Bessel method [64] for an approximate polynomial solutions of degree 5.

t	Taylor method [61]	Bessel method [64]	Present method	Present method
			N = 4	N = 8
0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	2.00 E –11	2.49 E –7	7.46 Е —9	9.38 E –12
0.2	2.50 E –9	4.02 E -7	7.42 Е —9	2.74 E –9
0.3	4.33 E –8	3.00 E -7	1.13 Е -8	5.27 Е —9
0.4	3.24 E –7	2.05 E –7	2.28 Е –8	9.43 E –9
0.5	1.54 Е —6	2.83 E -7	2.40 E -8	8.80 E –9
0.6	5.52 Е —6	3.75 E –7	4.87 Е –8	8.80 E –9
0.7	1.62 Е —5	1.65 Е –7	5.26 E -8	5.90 E –9
0.8	4.12 E –5	1.81 Е –7	6.71 Е –8	6.14 E –9
0.9	9.38 E –5	1.18 Е –6	9.05 E –8	6.90 E –9
1.0	1.95 Е —4	9.66 Е -6	9.04 E –8	7.34 E –9

Table 5.2: Comparison of the absolute errors of Example 5.4.2

Example 5.4.3 Consider the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t e^{s-t} x(s) ds, \ t \in [0,1].$$

with f is chosen so that the exact solution is $x(t) = 2\cos(t) + 1$. The absolute errors for $(N, m) \in \{(5, 2), (5, 3), (6, 3), (10, 3)\}$ at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are presented in Table 5.3. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1} + \frac{1}{3}$, i = 1, ..., m. From the Table 5.3, we note that the absolute error reduces as N or m increases.

t	N = 5	<i>N</i> = 5	N = 6	<i>N</i> = 10
	m = 2	m = 3	m = 3	m = 3
0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	0.15 Е –4	0.43 E –7	0.16 E -7	0.68 E -10
0.2	0.15 E –4	0.42 E -7	0.32 E -7	0.11 E -8
0.3	0.30 E -4	0.16 E –6	0.54 E -7	0.67 E –9
0.4	0.29 E –4	0.16 E –6	0.19 E –6	0.44 Е –9
0.5	0.44 E -4	0.36 E –6	0.12 E –6	0.24 E -8
0.6	0.44 E -4	0.37 E –6	0.22 E –6	0.13 E -8
0.7	0.57 E –4	0.65 E –6	0.27 E –6	0.14 E -8
0.8	0.58 E –4	0.67 E –6	0.34 E –6	0.19 E -8
0.9	0.70 E -4	0.10 E -5	0.47 Е –6	0.55 E –8
1	0.71 E –4	0.10 E -5	0.50 E -6	0.12 E -7

Table 5.3: Absolute errors for Example 5.4.3

Example 5.4.4 We Consider the linear Volterra integro-differential equation given by

$$x'(t) = f(t) + \int_0^t s\cos(s+t)x(s)ds, \ t \in [0,1].$$

with *f* is chosen so that the exact solution is $x(t) = e^t + 2$. The absolute errors *e* and *e'* for $m = q = 3 N \in \{4, 5, 10\}$ at t = 0, 0.1, ..., 1 are presented in Table 5.4. We used the collocation parameters $c_i = \frac{i}{m+1} + \frac{1}{4}$, i = 1, ..., m. From the Table 5.4, we note that the absolute error reduces as N or m increases.

t	N = 4		N = 10	
	е	<i>e'</i>	е	e'
0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
0.1	1.40 E –6	1.37 E –5	5.88 Е –9	2.01 E -7
0.2	1.93 E –6	6.75 E –7	5.20 E -10	6.18 E -8
0.3	2.64 E -6	2.27 E –5	1.08 Е –8	5.22 E -7
0.4	4.32 E –6	6.04 E -7	9.55 E –9	3.62 E –7
0.5	4.38 E –6	2.59 E -7	8.45 E –9	2.89 E -7
0.6	6.74 E –6	2.30 E −5	8.60 E –9	4.09 E −7
0.7	7.64 E -6	7.65 E -7	3.25 E –8	1.72 Е -7
0.8	8.83 E –6	3.76 E –5	6.97 Е –8	3.41 E –7
0.9	1.15 Е -6	9.60 E –6	1.03 E –7	1.01 E –7
1.0	1.16 E –5	5.98 E -7	1.88 Е –7	3.58 E –7

Table 5.4: Absolute errors of Example 5.4.4

5.5 Conclusion

In this work we developed a method to find the solution of nonlinear Volterra integral equations. The presented method is based on the Lagrange polynomial formula and collocating by the real polynomial spline space of degree $m + 1 S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N)$ This method tested on four examples. Our method by the suggested method is compared with the methods in [5, 6, 35, 61, 64]. Our results verified the accurate nature of our approach

CONCLUSION

This part has considered the iterative collocation method approximation approach for solving nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations equations. The method is easy to implement and has high order of convergence. The convergence of the presented algorithm is proved and an error estimate is established. Iterative collocation method can be extended to higher order integro- differential equations. Thus a possible area of future research is the application of the iterative collocation method method to higher dimensional problems. One could also investigate the application of iterative collocation method to singular PDE's

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVE

In this thesis, we have developed a new numerical method by using iterative collocation method to approximate the solutions of nonlinear volterra integral and integrodifferential equations. In the real polynomial spline space $S_{m-1}^{(-1)}(\Pi_N)$, $S_m^{(0)}(\Pi_N)$ and $S_{m+1}^{(1)}(\Pi_N)$. It is proved that the method is convergent and Error analysis shows the accuracy gives better. This method is easy to implement and the coefficients of the approximate solution are determined by iterative formulas without the need to solve any system of algebraic equations. Moreover, many numerical examples were introduced showing that the method is convergent with a good accuracy and the numerical results confirmed the theoretical estimates. The present scheme is very easy, accurate and effective.

Further researches on this kind of problems will be conducted by generalizing the current numerical method to approximate a high-order nonlinear Volterra integrodifferential equations and high order nonlinear integro-differential equations with weakly singular kernels.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R.P. Agrwal, Difference Equations and Inequalities: Theory, Methods, and Applications. Second edition, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2000.
- [2] K.E. Atkinson, The Numerical Solution of Integral Equations of the Second Kind. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [3] E. Babolian, F. Fattahzadeh and E. Golpar Raboky, A Chebyshev approximation for solving nonlinear integral equations of Hammerstein type, Appl. Math. Comput. 189 (2007), 641-646.
- [4] E. Babolian and A. Davary, Numerical implementation of Adomian decomposition method for linear Volterra integral equations for the second kind, Appl. Math. Comput. 165 (2005), 223-227.
- [5] E. Babolian, Z. Masouri, and S. Hatamzadeh-Varmazyar, New direct method to solve non-linear Volterra-Fredholm integral and integro-differential equations using operational matrix with block-pulse functions, Prog. in Electromag. Research 8 (2008), 59-76.

- [6] E. Babolian, Z. Masouri, and S. Hatamzadeh-Varmazyar, Numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equations via direct method using triangular functions, Comp. Math. Appl. 58 (2009), 239-247.
- [7] R. Bellman, *The stability of solutions of linear differential equations*, Duke Math. J. **10**(4) (1943), 643-647.
- [8] A. Bellour, K. Rouibah, *Iterative Continuous Collocation Method for Volterra Integro-Differential Equation*, Proceedings of the Institute of Mathematics and Mechanics.
- [9] N. Bildik, A. Konuralp, S. Yalçnbas, Comparison of Legendre polynomial approximation and variational iteration method for the solutions of general linear Fredholm integro-differential equations, Comput. Math. Appl. 59 (2010), 1909-1917.
- [10] H. Brunner, Implicitly linear collocation methods for nonlinear Volterra equations, Appl. Numer. Math., 9 (1992), 235-247.
- [11] H. Brunner, *Collocation methods for Volterra integral and related functional differential equations*, Cambridge university press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [12] H. Brunner, *Collocation methods for Volterra integral and related functional differential equations*, Cambridge university press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [13] H. Brunner, Implicit Runge-Kutta methods of optimal order for volterra integrodifferential equations. Math. Comput.42(165) (1984), 95-109.
- [14] H. Brunner, Polynomial spline collocation methods for Volterra integro-differential equations with weakly singular kernels. IMA J. Numer. Anal.6(1986), 221-339.
- [15] H. Brunner, iterated collocation methods for volterra integral equations with delay arguments, Mathematics of Computation,62 (1994), 581-599.
- [16] H. Brunner, On the numerical solution of nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations. BIT. 13 (1973), 381-390.

- [17] H. Brunner, A. Makroglou, R.K. Miller, Mixed interpolation collocation methods for first and second order Volterra integro-differential equations with periodic solution. Appl. Numer. Math. 23 (1997), 381-402.
- [18] H. Brunner, A. Pedas, and G. Vainikko, Piece-wise polynomial collocation methods for linear Volterra integro-differential equations with weakly singular kernels. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **39** (2001), 957-982.
- [19] H. Brunner and P. J. van der Houwen, The numerical solution of Volterra equations, CWI Monogr., vol. 3, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1986.
- [20] H. Brunner and P. J. van der Houwen, *The numerical solution of Volterra equations*, Elsevier Science Pub, Amsterdam, 1986.
- [21] J.P. Coleman, S.C. Duxbury, Mixed collocation methods for y = f(x, y), J. Comput. Appl. Math. **126** (2000), 47-75.
- [22] M. Costabel and J. Saranen, Spline Collocation for Convolutional Parabolic Boundary Integral Equations, ACM Numer. Math. 84 (2000), 417-449.
- [23] D. Costarelli and R. Spigler, *Solving Volterra integral equations of the second kind by sigmoidal functions approximation*, J. Integral Equations Appl. **25**(2) (2013), 193-222.
- [24] D. Costarelli, Approximate solutions of Volterra integral equations by an interpolation method based on ramp functions, Comput. Appl. Math. 38(4) (2019).
- [25] J. Douglas, and T. Dupont, Collocation Methods for Parabolic Equations in a Single Space Variable, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 147, Springer-Verlag, Berlin and New York, 1974.
- [26] G. Ebadi, M. Rahimi-Ardabili, and S. Shahmorad, Numerical solution of the nonlinear Volterra integro-differential equations by the Tau method. Appl. Math. Comput. 188 (2007), 1580-1586.
- [27] N. Ebrahimi and J. Rashidinia, *Collocation method for linear and nonlinear Fredholm and Volterra integral equations*, Appl. Math. Comput. **270** (2015), 156-164.

- [28] R. A. Frazer, W. P. Jones, and S. W. Skan, Approximations to Functions and to the Solutions of Differential Equations. Gt. Brit. Aero. Res. Council Reut and Memo: renrinted in Gt. Brit. Air Ministry Aero. Res. Comm. Tech. Report Vol. 1(1937), 517-549.
- [29] M. Ghasemi, M. T. Kajani and E. Babolian, Numerical solution of the nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations by using homotopy perturbation method, Appl. Math. Comput. 188 (2007), 446-449.
- [30] H. Guoqiang, *Asymptotic error expansion of a collocation-type method for Volterra-Hammerstein integral equations*, Appl. Numer. Math. **13** (1993), 357-369.
- [31] L. Hacia, Iterative-Collocation Method for Integral Equations of Heat Conduction Problems, Numerical Methods and Applications, (2006), 378-385.
- [32] E. Hairer, C. Lubich and S. P. Nørsett, Order of convergence of one-step methods for Volterra integral equations of the second kind, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 20(3) (1983), 569-579.
- [33] W.H. Huang and R.D. Russell, A Moving Collocation Method for Solving Time Dependent Partial Differential Equation, SIAM J.Appl. Numer. Math. 20 (1996), 101-116.
- [34] S.M.Hosseini, S.Shahmorad, Numerical solution of a class of integro-differential equations by the Tau method with an error estimation. Appl. Math. Comput., 136 (2003), 559-570.
- [35] S. Ul-Islam, I. Aziz, M. Fayyaz, A new approach for numerical solution of integro differential equations via Haar wavelets. International Journal of Computer Mathematics. 90(3) (2013), 1971-1989.
- [36] SH. Javadi, A. Davari and E. Babolian, Numerical implementation of the Adomian decomposition method for nonlinear Volterra integral equations of the second kind, Int. J. Comput. Math. 84(1) (2007), 75-79.

- [37] A.J. Jerri, Introduction to Integral Equations with Application, Wiley, New york, 1999.
- [38] Y.-J. Jiang, On spectral methods for Volterra-type integro-differential equations. J. Comput. Appl. Math.230(2) (2009), 333-340.
- [39] R. Kress, Linear Integral Equations. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999.
- [40] P.K. Kythe and P. Puri, Computational methods for linear integral equations. Birkhauser-Verlag, Springer, Boston, 2002.
- [41] H.Laib, M. Bousselsal, and A.Bellour, , Numerical solution of second order linear delay differential and integro-differential equations by using Taylor collocation method. International Journal of Computational Methods (2019).
- [42] H. Laib, A. Bellour and M. Bousselsal, Numerical solution of high-order linear Volterra integro-differential equations by using Taylor collocation method. International Journal of Computer Mathematics, 96(5) (2019), 1066-1085.
- [43] O. Lepik, Haar wavelet method for nonlinear integro-differential equations. Appl. Math. Comput. 176 (2006), 324-333.
- [44] H. Liang, H. Brunner, On the convergence of collocation solutions in continuous piecewise polynomial spaces for Volterra integral equations. BIT Numerical Mathematics. 56 (2016), 1339-1367.
- [45] P. Linz, Analytical and numerical methods for Volterra equations. SIAM, Philadelphia, PA (1985).
- [46] N. M. Madbouly, D. F. McGhee and G. F. Roach, Adomian's method for Hammerstein integral equations arising from chemical reactor theory, Appl. Math. Comput. 117 (2001), 241-249.
- [47] K. Maleknejad, E. Hashemizadeh, and Ezzati, R., A new approach to the numerical solution of Volterra integral equations by using Bernstein's approximation. Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 16(2) (2011), 647-655.

- [48] K. Maleknejad and F. Mirzaee, *Using rationalized Haar wavelet for solving linear integral equations*, Appl. Math. Comput. **160** (2005), 579-587.
- [49] K. Maleknejad and P. Torabi, Application of Fixed point method for solving nonlinear Volterra-Hammerstein integral equation, U.P.B. Sci. Bull., Series A. 74(1) (2012), 45-56.
- [50] P. Markowich and . Renardy, A nonlinear Volterra integro -differential equation describing the stretching of polymeric liquids . SIAM J. Math. Anal. 14 (1983), 6697.
- [51] J.I. Ramos, Iterative and non-iterative methods for non-linear Volterra integrodifferential equations, Appl. Math. Comput. **214** (2009), 287-296.
- [52] J. Rashidinia and Z. Mahmoodi, *Collocation method for Fredholm and Volterra integral equations*, Kybernetes. **42**(3) (2013), 400-412.
- [53] E. Rawashdeh, D. Mcdowell, and L. Rakesh, Polynomial spline collocation methods for second-order Volterra integro-differential equations. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci., 56 (2004), 3011-3022.
- [54] M. H. Reihani and Z. Abadi, Rationalized Haar functions method for solving Fredholm and Volterra integral equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 200 (2007), 12-20.
- [55] K. Rouibah , A. Bellour, P. Lima, and E. Rawashdeh, Iterative continuous collocation method for solving nonlinear Volterra integral equations, Kragujevac Journal of Mathematics. (2020)
- [56] M. Sezer and M. Gülsu, Polynomial solution of the most general linear Fredholm-Volterra integrodifferential-difference equations by means of Taylor collocation method, Appl. Math. Comput. 185 (2007), 646-657.
- [57] P. Sridhar, Implementation of the One Point Collocation Method to an Affinity Packed Bed Model, Indian Chem. Eng. Sec. 41(1) (1999), 39-46.
- [58] T. Tang, X. Xiang, J. Cheng, On spectral methods for Volterra integral equations and the convergence analysis. J. Comput. Math.26(6) (2008), 825-837.

- [59] M. Thamban Naira and V. Sergei Pereverzevb, Regularized Collocation Method for Fredholm Integral Equations of the First Kind, Journal of Complexity. 23 (2007), 454-467.
- [60] V. Volterra, Theory of Functionals and of Integral and Integrodifferential Equations. Dover, New York (1959).
- [61] S. Yalçinbaşa, M. Sezer, The approximate solution of high-order linear Volterra-Fredholm integro-differential equations in terms of Taylor polynomials, Appl. Math. Comput. 112 (2000), 291-308.
- [62] S. Yalçinbaş, Taylor polynomial solutions of nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations, Appl. Math. Comput. 127 (2002), 195-206.
- [63] S.A. Yousefi, Numerical solution of Abel's integral equation by using Legendre wavelets. Appl. Math. Comput. 175(1) (2006), 574-580.
- [64] Ş. Yüzbaşi, N. Şahin, M. Sezer, Bessel polynomial solutions of high-order linear Volterra integro-differential equations, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 62 (2011), 1940-1956.
- [65] S.H. Wang, J.H. He, Variational iteration method for solving integro-differential equations, Phys. Lett. A 367 (2007), 188-191.
- [66] K. Wang, Q. Wang, K. Guan, Iterative method and convergence analysis for a kind of mixed nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equation, Applied Mathematics and Computation., 225 (2013), 631-637.
- [67] A. Wazwaz, Linear and Nonlinear Integral Equations Methods and Applications.Higher Education Press Beijing, New York, 2011.
- [68] Y. Wei, Y. Chen, Convergence analysis of the Legendre spectral collocation methods for second order Volterra integro-differential equations. Numer. Math., Theory Methods Appl. 4 (2011), 339-358.

- [69] Y. Wei, Y. Chen, Legendre spectral collocation method for neutral and high-order Volterra integro-differential equation. Appl. Numer. Math. 81 (2014), 15-29.
- [70] Y. Wei, Y. Chen, Convergence analysis of the spectral methods for weakly singular Volterra integro-differential equations with smooth solutions. Adv. Appl. Math. Mech. 4 (2012), 1-20.
- [71] M. Zarebnia and J. Rashidinia, *Convergence of the Sinc method applied to Volterra integral equations*, Appl. Appl. Math. 5(1) (2010), 198-216.